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DAY 02 – 01 April 2016 

 

  [10.00 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, do we have Professor Kissling here and Anne 5 

Dingwall?  All right, so we will just get to your submission.   

 

 Now, just before we start, Mr Lawry I see you have presented a, 

perhaps I could put these inverted commas onto the transcript, 

“highlights package” which is 11 pages which is no shorter and perhaps 10 

is a bit longer than your actual evidence.  So if you could just bear in 

mind the estimate of time we have got for parties and were you to read 

that highlights package word for word my estimate would be that it 

would take you some 25 minutes or maybe half an hour.  So I wonder if 

you could focus on the main highlights of that when you come to 15 

present bearing in mind a few things.   

 

 One, think about this question, “What is the planning purpose I am 

trying to achieve”, you are trying to achieve, with the provisions you 

are asking for so what planning purpose are you trying to achieve or 20 

put another way, what problem are you trying to solve with the 

provisions you want and focus on those two questions.  And bear in 

mind when it comes to estimates of time where there are issues that we 

don’t understand we do want to have time to ask questions so think 

about that as well.  All right, thank you very much. 25 

 

 So Ms Dingwall and Professor Kissling, which of you would like to 

make this presentation? 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   Good morning, your Honour. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Good morning. 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   I will make the presentation. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 
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<CHRIS KISSLING AND ANNE DINGWALL [10.02 am] 
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PROFESSOR KISSLING:   Could I start please with a correction? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and if you want to, given the microphone is quite 

short, I don’t have a problem if you wanted to present sitting down as 

well so just at your ease. 5 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   Thank you.  A correction we would like to bring to 

the attention of the Panel, page 8 at 4.1 in Hands off Hagley’s chapter 2 

submitter statement.  It notes that Little Hagley Park is a Conservation 

zone but it is in Open Space 2. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, I just want to get that page reference so I am on 

page 8. 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   Page 8. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Of the statement? 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   Of Hands off Hagley’s chapter 2 submitter 

statement. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And there is a paragraph that is indented a bit that says 

“4.2”, is it above there, is it? 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   Yes. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And which paragraph above there? 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   I haven’t got the submitter statement with me, 

your Honour, but it is in 4.1. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well, you want us to put a note on that page and 

if you could just repeat that note please. 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   Page 8 at 4.1, Little Hagley Park is zoned Open 35 

Space 2. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Open Space 2, okay, thank you. 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   For this hearing Hands off Hagley has submitted 40 

two exhibits for the Panel’s consideration.  The first is entitled “CCC 

Media Release Hagley Park No Stopping Areas, 29 March 2016”. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Scott, these are public documents, do you have any 

issue with these just going in as exhibits by agreement?  I know that is 45 

a little bit informal in the sense that there is no witness to which they 
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attach, but just for the purposes of order you do not oppose us putting 

them in as exhibits? 

 

MS SCOTT:   I haven’t seen a copy of them, sir, but no. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well, we better get a copy to you.  Just have a 

look at them as the presentation is being made and let me know later 

whether or not you have any issue with that, thank you. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you. 10 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   The second is the Christchurch Central Parking 

Plan 2015. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 15 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   It is the CCDU CERA CCC document.  

 

  [10.05 am] 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   Hands off Hagley’s chapter 2 submitter statement 

related to the temporary activities and buildings definition.  It sought 

four amendments consistent with the purpose of the definitions 25 

proposal, namely to clauses A, B, D and E.  The revised proposal dated 

30 March 2016 has resolved two matters, namely in respect of 

clauses A and D.   

 

 Hands off Hagley has subsequently updated its position as follows.  30 

The outcomes sought by Hands off Hagley, first Hands off Hagley 

supports the Council’s rewording of clause A as stated in the revised 

proposal dated 30 March 2016. 

 

 Secondly, in relation to clause D Hands off Hagley supports the 35 

Council’s amendment of the advice note in section 6.2.2.1 to include 

reference to the Reserves Act.   

 

 Thirdly, in relation to clause B Hands off Hagley submitter statement 

suggested the addition of the wording “including in the case of Hagley 40 

Park soil compaction within the drip line of any tree and damage to any 

tree branch” making the tree susceptible to disease.  

 

 Hands off Hagley does not accept Ms McLaughlin’s view 

misrepresenting Hands off Hagley’s position at 5.4 in her rebuttal 45 

evidence, namely that “A more effective and efficient way to achieve 
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the purposes sought by Hands off Hagley (to avoid damage to trees and 

grass from overspill event parking) would be to identify appropriate 

areas for “overspill event parking” and “in the Hagley Park 

Management Plan”.   

 5 

 Ms McLaughlin’s view overlooks the relevant matter of compliance 

with section 5(2) Christchurch City Reserves Empowering Act 1971 

cited in Hands off Hagley submitter statement and with objective 21 in 

the statutory 2007 Hagley Park Management Plan consistent with the 

Empowering Act. 10 

 

 The purpose of Hands off Hagley’s suggested amendment to clause B 

was to avoid damage to Hagley Park trees resulting from temporary 

activities involving, for instance vendor vehicles, lighting in tree 

branches, intensive foot traffic.  Ms McLaughlin’s rebuttal evidence at 15 

5.4 is premised on “Soil compaction resulting from a car parking under 

tree for a short period of time” yet it is “the first few trips over a site 

that do the majority of compaction damage” according to 

Professor Kim Coder, an internationally renowned tree health expert 

quoted in the soil compaction document, an exhibit for chapter 6 20 

general rules hearing. 

 

 Hands off Hagley notes that the unauthorised damaging of Hagley Park 

trees in any way is an offence under the Reserves Act section 94.1M.  

 25 

 Damage to trees from tree illiterate (ph 3.20) permitted temporary 

activities cannot be sanctioned in the revised district plan.  Hands off 

Hagley would support clause B as worked in the revised proposal dated 

30 March 2016 subject to the Panel’s acceptance of Hands off Hagley’s 

suggested revised wording of policy 6.2.1.1.1 in its 20 March 2016 30 

exhibit for the chapter 6 general rules hearing.  That is for clause A(i) 

and for the proposed clause X which commences “Where temporary 

activities and events are located”. 

 

 Finally, in respect of clause E, Hands off Hagley now respectfully 35 

request that the Panel consider accommodating an exception or 

exclusion in the case of Hagley Park from the application of this clause.  

Clause E says “The provision of car parking ancillary to a temporary 

activity whether sealed or unsealed” et cetera would require an 

appropriation of an area or areas within Hagley Park for overspill 40 

parking inconsistent with the relevant legislation cited by Hands off 

Hagley. 

 

 Furthermore Hands off Hagley submits it would not give effect to 

objective 13.2.1 and policy 13.3.1 in the 2013 Canterbury Regional 45 

Policy Statement and would be inconsistent with strategic 
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objective 3.3.1(c) in respect of sustaining “The important qualities and 

values of the natural environment”. 

 

  [10.10 am] 

 5 

 The five formal public car parks in North and South Hagley Park 

already provide parking ancillary to temporary activities in Hagley 

Park. 

 

 Now, this week the Council acknowledged the adverse effects of car 10 

parking on the welfare of Hagley Park trees in a media release 

submitted as Hands off Hagley’s first exhibit this morning.  It described 

imminent berm work “Needed to protect the health of our treasured 

historic trees.  Cars damage the grounds and trees.  The Council role is 

to balance the needs of park users with safeguarding the Park now and 15 

in the future”. 

 

 However this proposed work will be undertaken adjacent to Hagley 

Park not within.  Photographs attached to Hands off Hagley submitter 

statements for chapter 2, 6 and 18 give the lie to the Council’s stated 20 

position relating to Hands off Hagley’s submissions.  In the opening 

legal submissions on behalf of the Council, namely that “The effects of 

car parking on turfed areas or trees…are sufficiently managed by 

public processes”.  This Council position also overlooks the matter of 

compliance of the overspill event parking within the Christchurch City 25 

Reserves Empowering Act and the 2007 Hagley Park Management 

Plan. 

 

 Page 9, 2007 Hagley Park Management Plan states: “In recognition of 

the shortage of car parking spaces during peak use times in Hagley 30 

Park potential future car parking sites around the Park are to be 

investigated”.  The executive summary of Hands off Hagley’s second 

exhibit, Christchurch Central City Parking Plan 2015, addresses the 

provision of parking in the Central City.  It does not anticipate the 

appropriation of any areas within Hagley Park for either short or long 35 

stay parking.  “Increased certainty about the current availability and 

future provision of parking in the Central City is important for 

providing confidence in the rebuild of a thriving central city.  Both on-

street and off-street vehicle parking is included”.  Hands off Hagley 

submits that the application of clause E to Hagley Park would be 40 

inconsistent with the 2015 parking plan.   

 

 To conclude, your Honour, Hands off Hagley hands really over the fate 

of Hagley Park to this Independent Hearings Panel; either the 

protections in the replacement plan are robust and devoid of alternative 45 

interpretations, or they are weak and allow for continued abuse of the 
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people’s park that history will decry.  We have had so many instances 

in the past of improper parking in the Park that we are not happy that 

the other methods of looking after it will work without allowing what 

Hands off Hagley are seeking and that is the historic recognition, 

heritage recognition of Hagley Park. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Professor.  Before I ask my other Panel 

members questions, there is one that I just had; of you go to page 8 of 

your statement and you refer to the definition of the “mass assembly of 

people”, do you recall that part of Hands off Hagley’s case? 10 

 

MS DINGWALL:   Yes, I can answer this. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay, thank you. 

 15 

 That particular definition in the notified version admittedly is not 

particularly focused on what it is trying to achieve.  In answer to 

questions yesterday the relevant Council planner confirmed her 

understanding that that particular definition is intended to pertain to 

something quite specific. And that is an area of land near the airport 20 

subject to what is termed the REPA control area, runway end protection 

area I think is what REPA stands for, as opposed to Grim Reaper. 

 

 So that particular control on the “mass assembly of people” pertain to 

that particular topic and, as is often quite understandable, when people 25 

see a definition which doesn’t explain its context it can take on 

different meanings.  But I wonder, given that that was the planner’s 

view of what the intention of that definition was, whether you wanted 

to comment on that in any way? 

 30 

  [10.15 am] 

 

MS DINGWALL:   Yes, we have learned since because there was no context 

for that definition but it seemed appropriate for some of the intense 

activities, the temporary activities that happen or are planned in the 35 

Park but we now realise that it related to affects on mass assembly of 

people when we are concerned the mass assemblies of peoples effects 

on the park so quite different.  But we have learned since that no, so we 

haven’t pursued it. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you, I just wanted to put that you because it 

was something new, all right, thank you.  Now, Mr Neill, do you have 

any questions? 

 

MR NEILL:   No, I have no questions, thank you. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Just to make sure I heard Professor Kissling correctly, in 

relation to the amendments that the Council has made to D, I think it 

was, no – you said you would be happy with one of the amendments 5 

the Council has made or has decided not to make provided one of the 

policies in chapter 6 was amended as you sought through that hearing, 

can you just remind me what you said? 

 

MS DINGWALL:   Yes, I have got the policy with our suggested amendment. 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   Just the number. 

 

MS DINGWALL:   It is policy 6.2 and then it is followed by three 1s.   

 15 

MS DAWSON:   Three 1s, all right. 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:.  Point 1.1.1. 

 

MS DAWSON:   1.1.1, yes. 20 

 

MS DINGWALL:   And this policy comes immediately under 6.2.1 objectives 

and policies on page 3 of our exhibit. 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, that is all right.  Which part of the definition would you 25 

be happy to accept the Council’s response if that policy was changed?  

I think that is what Professor Kissling said. 

 

MS DINGWALL:   Well, we have taken it that we would be happy, yes, with 

the current wording in the definition provided - - - 30 

 

MS DAWSON:   Which part A, B, C, D, E? 

 

MS DINGWALL:   It was relating to D, wasn’t it?  Are you talking about 

clause D? 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   I don’t know, I am asking you, which part of the definition 

have you related to that policy? 

 

MS DINGWALL:   Clause D I think,   40 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:    No, it is B. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Was it B? 

 45 

MS DINGWALL:   Yes, sorry, it is B. 
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MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you, that was what I hadn’t caught, thank you 

very much that is great. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, thank you very much to both of you. 5 

 

 There is one further matter, Ms Scott, any issue with these exhibits 

going in by consent? 

 

MS SCOTT:   No, sir. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, I think these are the first two so these will be 

recorded as exhibits. 

 

 Exhibit 1 will be the Tuesday, 29 March 2016 Christchurch City 15 

Council Media Release entitled “Hagley Park No Stopping Areas”.   

 

 Exhibit 2 will be the Christchurch City Council document entitled 

“Christchurch Central Parking Plan 2015”. 

 20 

 Thank you very much to both of you for that presentation, and we will 

give some consideration obviously in due course to all of these matters 

in making our decision. 

 

EXHIBIT #1 – CCC MEDIA RELEASE – HAGLEY PARK NO 25 

STOPPING AREAS, 29 MARCH 2016 

 

EXHIBIT #2 – CHRISTCHURCH CENTRAL PARKING PLAN 2015 

 

MS DINGWALL:   Thank you. 30 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Was there anything else, it looked like you were about to 

ask me something. 35 

 

MS DINGWALL:   I was just going to say I am sorry that the Council hadn’t 

received those exhibit documents, because I forwarded them through 

and asked that they be sent to the Council so there has been some 

mishap. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, all right.  Well, any inconvenience there Ms Scott 

has been able to manage it and let me know, so that is fine. 

 

 All right, thank you. 45 
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MS DINGWALL:   Thank you. 

 

<CHRIS KISSLING AND ANNE DINGWALL WITHDREW [10.19 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, Mr Lawry, a couple of things; so your statement is 5 

headed “evidence”, are you wanting to present this as evidence or do 

you want to make a representation? 

 

MR LAWRY:   My intention was to present this as evidence.  I can explain 

why it is as long as it is, the reason is that I only just had permission to 10 

talk to critical infrastructure and strategic infrastructure and therefore 

the first documentation related directly to airport purposes.  But my 

intention was to make sure you had this early this morning so as far as I 

am concerned it is read by the Panel, no point in me just to go through 

again. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, I agree with that, it wouldn’t help you, it wouldn’t 

help us so that is understood and, yes, it is before us and obviously we 

have read your evidence. 

 20 

  [10.20 am] 

 

MR LAWRY:   Going to the point – sorry. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I also received through the Secretariat an email chain? 25 

 

MR LAWRY:   I have that here as an exhibit to produce. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Have you given a copy of that to Ms Scott? 

 30 

MS SCOTT:   I understood the Secretariat had, but – yes, that is correct. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay. 

 

MR LAWRY:   I also had Mr Sugrue who is the prime witness in relation to 35 

that if there was a chance of any issues around it. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just for other parties of having interests here, I see there 

are representatives from the Airport in the room; I wonder if a copy of 

it could be provided to the Airport representatives. 40 

 

 Well, it is even better, we have got Mr Williams here.  So you don’t 

have any issue with this coming in, Mr Williams? 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   No, sir, with it coming in – I am struggling to understand its 45 

relevance. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   And you are entitled to make whatever submissions on 

that that you wish to make, but on the basis of it just coming in with 

that role – Ms Scott I take it you do not either have any issue with it 

coming in subject to your ability to make submissions about it? 5 

 

MS SCOTT:   No, sir, also I am struggling to understand its relevance but no 

objection and we will respond in closing submissions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, all right.  Just to make things easier, we will now 10 

enter that as Exhibit 3, going in by consent subject to the riders as to 

relevance which both counsel have indicated. 

 

EXHIBIT #3 – EMAIL CHAIN BETWEEN JOHN SUGRUE AND 

GLENDA DIXON, CCC 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Lawry, if you could come forward please.  And you 

know the formalities so we will take you through those. 

 

20 
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<DAVID MICHAEL LAWRY, sworn [10.21 am] 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   I cannot recall what you said last time; your full name is 

David Lawry. 

 

MR LAWRY:   David Michael Lawry. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   David Michael Lawry.  And you have prepared a 

statement of evidence dated 3 March and in it you express your views 

as in relation to the submission you have lodged.  Are there any 

corrections you wanted to make to that statement? 

 10 

MR LAWRY:   Not the one of 3 March, there is a correction from what I 

prepared this morning, I spelt Mr Sugrue’s name with an ‘e’ rather than 

‘u’ at point 6 but that is the only alteration. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you.  I suppose we should go through the 15 

formality of saying – are you intending your highlights package to be 

part of your evidence? 

 

MR LAWRY:   I am. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So that is dated 1 April 2016? 

 

MR LAWRY:   That is correct, and subject to the correction to the spelling for 

Mr Sugrue’s name, that you just indicated, are there any other 

corrections to either document? 25 

 

MR LAWRY:   There are not.    

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So you confirm both of those to represent your opinion, 

and in that sense are true and correct? 30 

 

MR LAWRY:   I do. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And all statements of fact in either document, you attest to 

them being true and correct? 35 

 

MR LAWRY:   To the best of my knowledge, sir, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And now confirm that to be your evidence? 

 40 

MR LAWRY:   That is correct. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well subject to my encouragement to you earlier 

to focus on firstly; what is the purpose you are trying to achieve with 

the provisions you want included or alternatively, what is the mischief 45 
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or problem you are trying to solve with those provisions.  If you can 

now speak to your summary. 

 

MR LAWRY:   Thank you.  The remedy sought in relation to Airport purposes, 

is that as long CIAL can require land for Airport purposes as a 5 

requiring authority, there is need for a definition. 

 

 Also, and just a pertinent fact, as long as the designation process 

actually runs parallel to the sign process, there will also be a need for 

the Airport purposes to be defined. 10 

 

 The purpose of the exhibit that I have produced or now produce or you 

have produced, is that it shows that the Council representatives are 

using this definition regularly, in terms of how they are defining what 

they will or not engage CIAL with in terms of consenting or approving 15 

under the dual designation and zoning approach that exists. 

 

 I have referred, in the body of my evidence that PC84 made it clear that 

– the commissioner of that made it clear that he was of the view that 

was inappropriate for that dual process to remain for the reasons that 20 

our outlined, and it is my view that the Panel are still in a position to be 

able to correct that glaring error that was so strongly put forward by 

Commissioner Thompson. 

 

  [10.25 am] 25 

 

 That is all I will speak to on that issue, and I think it is clear in my 

documentation. 

 

 Moving on to the remedies sought in relation to strategic transport: 30 

Once again PC84 I believe is compelling on the Panel in that it has 

already done a definition of strategic transport networks and that the 

proposed strategic infrastructure definition effectively tries to override, 

alter and complicate that already existing definition. 

 35 

 PC 84 is as you will be aware, I think now accepted by CIAL, already 

forms part of the district plan, therefore cannot be altered unless it is by 

way of minor effect. 

 

 I submit that the new definition bringing in all the commercial services 40 

and non-transport type lands uses (ph 1.09) is a very significant change 

wanting to occur and therefore the remedy I seek is that the PC84 

definition that already forms part of the Replacement Plan, is in fact the 

definition that should remain, and that the strategic definition as 

proposed, should have the – depending which one you are looking at – 45 
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should have the clauses relating to Airport and the Lyttelton Port, just 

take a separate issue, taken out of it. 

 

 Should the Panel decide that is not of their view, the alternative is is 

that at least in terms of the strategic definition, improved definition, 5 

that there be lists generated as to what in fact is deemed to be strategic 

and critical as clearly many of the commercial activities as I outlined in 

the body of the evidence, make it clear that they are not strategic or 

critical in that wider sense.  So it identifies the core activities that are 

critical and strategic. 10 

 

 And that ends my highlights package. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Lawry, I will just check if there are any 

Panel questions. 15 

 

MR NEILL:   No sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you Mr Neill.  Ms Dawson? 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   Just, we have not been involved greatly with PC84 in terms 

of the detail of it, so are you saying that there are some definitions that 

come as part of PC84 that will automatically come into the Plan, and 

which way were you saying, were you saying that you prefer the 

definitions relating to strategic infrastructure or strategic aspects, that 25 

are in PC84 and the detail of those compared with what is in this 

district plan. 

 

 Is that what you are indicating? 

 30 

MR LAWRY:   Not quite.  I was a submitter to PC84 right from the beginning.  

There is a definition of strategic transport networks which already by 

virtue of that decision, is part of the District Plan. 

 

 The new defined for strategic infrastructure, in fact, complicates, 35 

duplicates, overrides and in fact creates whole new aspects to that 

definition which were not defined initially. 

 

 And also - - -  

 40 

MS DAWSON:   When you mean initially, you mean in PC84? 

 

MR LAWRY:   By PC84 – so I prefer PC 84 in that in my view, it speaks to 

the critical and strategic components, whereas the next definition brings 

in all the commercial services as being strategic and commercial and 45 

critical which in fact they are not. 
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 And so objectively looking at the issue, my view is that the Panel may 

have difficulty because the alteration in the new strategic definition, not 

the PC84 – I am getting myself confused – would not be a change of 

minor effect, it would be a very significant change. 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   So you are saying that the one that was in PC84 was more 

specific and more – or identified more accuracy in your view, in the 

core, strategical critical aspects, whereas the definitions in this Plan that 

we are looking at well they do not define that at all, they just have the 10 

broad words? 

 

MR LAWRY:   That is correct, and also, I think, although I am not lawyer and 

clearly (INDISTINCT 4.31) I think there is difficulty with actually 

bringing in this new definition when PC84 already forms part of the 15 

Plan. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, so you are alerting us to that. 

 

MR LAWRY:   Yes. 20 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you very much.  Yes, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I do not have any questions on this occasion, 

Mr Lawry, thank you very much, you are free to go. 25 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [10.29 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, Mr Williams I think you are calling Mr Bonis and 

my note here indicates you are dealing with the Port Company first, is 30 

that right? 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   Mr Bonis has prepared a combined brief so I think that 

simply he is providing evidence in respect of both on a joint basis. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, all right. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Williams, I am not sure if you – I saw Mr Bonis was 

here yesterday when some of the matters that had been the subject of 

discussion were the subject of questioning from the Panel.  So I 

presume that he is alert to one or two of the technical - - - 

 5 

MR WILLIAMS:   Yes, and I think he picks these up in his highlights package 

to some extent- - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 10 

MR WILLIAMS:   - - - so I think- - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Sensitive activities I think was one that I had questions 

around. 

 15 

MR WILLIAMS:   That is right – I will speak to Mr Bonis shortly – but in the 

large part, many of the matters have now been agreed, or there is a 

couple of matters being parked to get right potentially for Chapter 6.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I suppose it is just important for all parties to be aware 20 

that while it is most helpful and we appreciate it certainly parties come 

to a consensus view – we have still got to sign off in being satisfied that 

the provisions work, and obviously mindful of the need to 

communicate properly with parties on that of the said problems. 

 25 

<EXAMINATION BY MR WILLIAMS [10.31 am] 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   Absolutely, sir.  I will just get Mr Bonis to confirm his 

evidence. 

 30 

 So do you confirm that your full name is Matthew William Bonis?  

 

MR BONIS:   It is. 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   And you have produced a statement of evidence dated this 35 

time, 3 March 2016? 

 

MR BONIS:   I have. 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   And you have got the qualifications and experience set out 40 

in that evidence? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   Or referred to in previous evidence, I think.  Any 45 

corrections you wish to make to that evidence? 
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MR BONIS:   No there are not. 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   Can you please confirm that to the best of your knowledge 

that evidence is true and correct? 5 

 

MR BONIS:   I can. 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   And as I advised the Panel before, I understand you have 

got a short summary? 10 

 

MR BONIS:   Relatively short.  I am going to try and deal with some of the 

questions that came through yesterday, if that is of assistance.  

 

MR WILLIAMS:   Thank you. 15 

 

MR BONIS:   I have met with Glenda Dixon and had discussions with 

Mr Scott Blair to narrow the implication of my evidence.  I also 

attended the Hearing yesterday to gain a sense of where issues remain. 

 20 

 I see no point in labouring a full summary for the Panel.  

 

 I understand that the interested parties have provided a memorandum 

and sought a timetable regarding the definition of hazard substances.   

 25 

 There are two disputed definitions relating to bird strike.  Ms Dixon 

stated yesterday that the definitions for bird strike risk activities, in my 

evidence and surface water and management structure, tied up in the 

proposal, are tied up in the final suite of provisions which will be the 

subject of further caucusing for the Chapter 6 Hearing. 30 

 

 However, to progress these matters, I consider that if either of the 

definitions are not used in the rules, they can be deleted, and that was a 

point of contention between myself and Ms Dixon, at least in terms of 

the way that I was using bird strike risk activities within my evidence.  35 

 

 For the air noise boundary I have suggested a non-critical inclusion in 

the heading to also state 65 Ldn, 95 LAE, air noise contour. 

 

 The inclusion seeks to distinguish quickly for the reader that this is the 40 

composite contour used for land use management, not the Airport noise 

contour line as that relates to compliance requirements for the Airport. 

 

 I note that the 65 dBA/Ldn 95dB/LAE reference is also used in the key 

for that contour within the planning maps. 45 

 



 Page 116 

  

Ch2: Definitions (Part) Commenced 31.03.16 

 The question raised by Commissioner Dawson yesterday was whether 

the second part of the definition is actually needed.  CIAL did not seek 

to amend the phrase restrictions, the prohibition in that definition, 

however, I agree that it reads more as an explanation than a definition 

per se, and is certainly a typical in the context of the other definitions in 5 

the Proposal.  And I went and checked those last night, and it does 

appear to the only one that provides an explanation. 

 

 However, in saying that, it does provide some benefit in quickly 

alerting plan uses as to the likely consequences of a noise sensitive 10 

activity being located within the air noise boundary which is identified 

in the planning maps as the air noise contour, 65dB/Ldn, 95dB/LAE.  

There is a bit of a – not a conflict but different terms are used in the 

context between the planning maps and the way that the air noise 

boundary is used within the definitions proposal. 15 

 

 So essentially, what I am saying, is by putting that into the heading as 

well, hopefully that overcomes that issue. 

 

 As identified in paragraphs 25 to 26 of my evidence, I am comfortable 20 

with either the Council’s amended prohibition of new noise sensitive 

activities or the initial restrictions on land use should the Panel actually 

see any benefit in that second sentence being kept in.  It is an 

explanation, so it only assists in terms of the readability of the Plan, but 

it is not a pure definition per se. 25 

 

  [10.35 am] 

 

 My concern with the definition of trade and industry training facility, is 

that there is considerable overlap and ambiguity with the definition of 30 

tertiary education and research activity. 

 

 The implication of sensitive activities definition identifies trade and 

industry training as not being a sensitive activity to Airport noise. 

 35 

 Tertiary education is also nested under education activity, would be 

deemed a sensitive activity to Airport noise. 

 

 Unlike the specificity provided by Section 159 of the Education Act as 

to what a tertiary institution is, and that phrase is also used in the 40 

Auckland Unitary Plan for defining tertiary education.  There is no 

explicit reference as to what actually represents a tertiary education 

activity as defined within the Proposal. 

 

 It is a very general, very broad definition. 45 
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 So the purpose of my suggested amendment was to narrow the 

implication of trade and training as a non-sensitive activity by 

excluding activities otherwise defined as a tertiary education and 

research facility.  

 5 

 However, I have considered the practical effect of the recommended 

insertion and have concluded that rather than assist in improving in 

clarity, the broad nature of the tertiary education definition means that 

the opposite would occur if my recommendation in my evidence was 

followed through. 10 

 

 Accordingly, I no longer recommend that amendment to the trade and 

industry training facility, as identified in paragraph 43 of my evidence. 

 

 In terms of sensitive activities; the suggestion as to not constraining 15 

medical facilities where there is no overnight accommodation, has been 

more broadly applied in Ms Dixon’s rebuttal than I first intended.  

 

 My evidence on behalf of the Lyttelton Port Company was that there 

was no basis for a restriction on medical facilities without overnight 20 

accommodation as related to the Port influences overlay. 

 

 Applying that qualified the beyond report and the Airport, raises issue 

as to whether such an approach is appropriate for other infrastructure.  

The regulatory basis for what is deemed as sensitive activity depends 25 

on the infrastructure in question.  For example, I am aware that 

NZS 6806, transport noise and vibration, defines protective premises 

and facilities as including overnight medical care. 

 

 And the NPS on electricity transmission, clause 3 includes hospitals as 30 

a sensitive activity. 

 

 Page 121 of my evidence-in-chief addresses the issue with regard to 

LPC.  However, I agree with the Panel’s views that any additional 

changes may benefit from caucusing to avoid unintended 35 

consequences. 

 

 Lastly, Commissioner Dawson raised yesterday as well, the definition 

of mass assembly of people and that was raised again this morning.  

This phrase is only used on conjunction with the runway end protection 40 

areas within both the CIAL designation and also rule 6.9. 

 

 An inelegant solution may simply to be to add to the beginning of that 

definition, for the purposes of the runway end protection areas at 

Christchurch International Airport, means, and then the rest of the 45 

definition follows through. 
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 The relied definitions of entertainment activity and recreational activity 

can be deleted, as I am unsure of their relationship to the REPA and use 

of mass assembly definition in that context, and I think that overcomes 

the issue that was of concern this morning. 5 

 

 I am happy to answer any questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Scott? 

 10 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS SCOTT [10.38 am] 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir. 

 

 Thank you, Mr Bonis for that helpful summary, you have answered 15 

some of my questions, particularly in terms of the second sentence of 

air noise boundary and also trade and industry training facility and that 

not being pursued.  

 

 Just some very brief questions, the first on bird strike risk activities:  20 

You have acknowledged that that definition is being progressed 

through the General Rules Hearing and is quite closely tied to those 

provisions. 

 

 Just as a matter of drafting principle, you will be aware of the approach 25 

that has been taken across the Plan as to a strong preference to include 

detailed standards in rules, rather than in definitions? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, I am aware of that. 

 30 

MS SCOTT:   And that the zone rules and standards themselves, they provide 

the distinction between scales of activity appropriate to this specific 

zone? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, I would agree with that. 35 

 

MS SCOTT:   And that therefore that threshold of appropriateness should not 

be set out in the definitions; it is best located in the zone? 

 

MR BONIS:   That would certainly be the appropriate drafting context within 40 

the Council Plan framework as it has been drafted, yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And a consistent approach is desirable, isn’t it? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 45 
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  [10.40 am] 

 

MS SCOTT:   And in terms of what is a bird strike risk activity, you would 

agree that the Panel’s decision on that needs to be made in the context 

of General Rules? 5 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, it does and I mean the point that I raised in my summary it 

is and to progress matters further rather than a debate between myself 

and Council is that if through that further caucusing that I understand 

the Panel is going to be directing the parties that the term “bird strike 10 

risk activities” is not used within the rules themselves, and that 

definition should just disappear. 

 

MS SCOTT:   That is helpful, thank you.   

 15 

 Just turning quickly to “surface water management structure”, you 

clarified in your highlights package that if the term is not used it should 

fall away. 

 

MR BONIS:   It suffers the same fate as “bird strike risk activities”.   20 

 

MS SCOTT:   Absolutely but you would be aware from Ms Dixon’s rebuttal 

that the definition is also used in the Open Space provisions? 

 

MR BONIS:   It is with the caveat Ms Carter identified within her rebuttal 25 

evidence that it is kept there as a placeholder in the interim until a 

consolidated suite of provisions around bird strike are forthcoming in 

Chapter 6 or not at all depending on what the Panel’s decision is 

around that particular issue. 

 30 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, Mr Bonis.  That is helpful.  No further questions, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Ms Scott.  Mr Neill? 

 

MR NEILL:   Yes, Mr Bonis, you have had the opportunity to listen to 35 

Mr Lawry and read his submission and his highlight package? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, I have.  I have caught up very briefly with it, yes. 

 

MR NEILL:    And one of his concerns is the desire to have included a 40 

definition of “airport purposes” and you have described that as an 

“orphan”.  Can you expand on that, please? 

 

MR BONIS:   Certainly, the only context within which it is used is the 

designation and the designation is openly broad in terms of what 45 

“airport purposes” means.  So putting in a definition into the Plan 
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around airport purposes normally would be reliant on either a rule or a 

policy or an objective within the Plan.  It would hang within the sort of 

link of the framework.   

 

 In this context suggested by Mr Lawry there would be a definition that 5 

does not actually have any physical application in terms of the rules or 

the policies and objectives of the Plan. The only possible effect it could 

have is in terms of the designation, but that matter has already been 

heard and decided by the Panel and left openly broad in that context so 

that is why I suggested it sits as an orphan. 10 

 

MR NEILL:   But his concern is that activities occur within the Airport Special 

Purpose zone which should, in fact, be subject to scrutiny through 

resource consent applications.  Your evidence suggests that, in fact, in 

the past you have made many applications for resource consent.  Can 15 

you expand on that? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, I will try and it gets into some matters of legal detail so I 

will try and stay away from those. 

 20 

 The section 176(i) and (ii) of the Act are probably the pertinent ones, 

and I have dealt with it very briefly in my evidence and legal 

submissions, probably the more appropriate place to deal with it.   

 

 The designation under Airport Purposes will obviously allow a number 25 

of things to occur under the Outline Plan of Works and there is always 

the ability to debate whether or not a particular proposal is in Airport 

Purposes under that particular definition.  That has led to debate in the 

past and consequently, a number of resource consents have been filed 

under 176(ii).  I do not see that changing apart from the fact that 30 

Plan Change 84 was put into place to provide greater clarity as to what 

are the range of activities, the activity status and more importantly, the 

policy and objective framework for activities that would occur on 

airport land that are not necessarily airport purposes, in terms of the 

designation. 35 

 

 So it allows for another range of activities on that land if it is not 

considered purely an airport purpose under the designation where the 

outline plan mechanism would be used. 

 40 

 Sorry, a longwinded answer but I think that hopefully covers it. 

 

MR NEILL:   So, just for my sake then, without a definition of 

“airport purpose” when you are considering whether it is a matter for a 

resource consent or not a resource consent, what are you relying upon? 45 
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MR BONIS:   It would be whether or not we are looking at putting an 

application together for an outline plan of works and the first question 

that I always ask is, is it a core airport activity and that is slightly 

different from more is it within what is seen as a contemporary airport 

activity.   5 

 

 If it is a core airport activity, for me it is a very, very easy answer and I 

am relatively comfortable with a plan of putting that forward to the 

Council as an outline plan.  If it is something in that more sort of grey 

area of what a contemporary airport purpose may be; Antarctic Centre 10 

visitor accommodation, those sorts of things, I always get legal advice 

on it or always sort of seek evidence such as that provided by 

Mr Munro as to whether or not it comes under the ambit of 

Airport Purposes. 

 15 

  [10.45 am] 

 

 

 And what has happened in the past if there is a debate with Council as 

to whether or not it is or is not, it is put in as resource consent and that 20 

process is followed instead.  That is what has always occurred 

traditionally. 

 

MR NEILL:   And finally, Mr Lawry also refers to PC84 definition of strategic 

infrastructure.  Have you any comment in regard to his thoughts and 25 

views on that? 

 

MR BONIS:   Well, I have not gone into matters of detail.  I read that notice 

yesterday.  The only comment that I would make is that the airport and 

the port are both identified as “strategic transport network” and also as 30 

“strategic infrastructure” within the glossary of the Canterbury 

Regional Policy Statement, and I would assume that those definitions 

have just flowed through to what we have in front of us now. 

 

 So I do not see any issue that they are defined under both because the 35 

Regional Policy Statement defines them as both and they, in my view, 

fulfil both roles anyway. 

 

MR NEILL:   Right, thanks. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawson. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Just a couple of clarifications please, Mr Bonis. 
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 With the Air/Noise Boundary, thank you for pointing about the 

alteration sought to the heading.  I had not picked that up, but that has 

helped. 

 

MR BONIS:    Sorry. 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, no, don’t worry, it is helpful. 

 

 Now, you said that you were comfortable with either the notified or the 

Christchurch City amended second sentence to that definition, but I 10 

was not sure whether you said you would be comfortable if the Panel 

chose to delete it altogether? 

 

MR BONIS:   No, I am comfortable with that as well.  The only point that I 

would make about leaving it is that it does help with some readability 15 

in terms of what that line actually means in the Plan. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But as an explanation? 

 

MR BONIS:   But as an explanation, it is not a pure definition in the meaning 20 

of it so there is no mischief if it is deleted but I do not believe there is 

any mischief if it is incorporated as well. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But if it was incorporated clearly as an explanation as 

opposed to a pseudo part of the definition? 25 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, correct. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And you pointed out that no other definitions have 

explanations to them. 30 

 

MR BONIS:   No, I did go and have a look last night. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Many of them could possibly be helpful, yes, all right, thank 

you. 35 

 

 Now, my other question was on the Bird Strike Activities definition.  

You sort of got round the question that I was going to ask by saying 

“well, if it’s not used in the rules then it won’t be needed” but my 

question is do you think that a definition like this should be used in the 40 

rules? 

 

 In other words, when you are liaising about Chapter 6 and the rules will 

you be pushing for this to be used as a defined term given that – I 

mean, do you agree or do you consider that it goes beyond a definition 45 

and starts incorporating matters which are either matters of policy or 
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rules or standards that is a matter of planning theory, I suppose, should 

be really more incorporated in the rules rather than in the definition 

itself. 

 

MR BONIS:   No, I agreed with Ms Scott’s contention on that and I agree with 5 

that as well.  The purpose of it was simply to try and reconcile all the 

matters that Mr Shaw had come up with within the Plan context. 

 

 Now, there is a number of instances where particular activities will 

require consent as a discretionary or non-complying activity within the 10 

Plan for other reasons than bird strike.  So the suggestion here was to 

have a definition that also identified them as bird strike risk activities 

so that the airport could clearly signal its intent that it would want to be 

involved if those things went through a consenting process. 

 15 

 But I think the first principle is the correct one; if they breach into 

matters of standards or rules that should rightly be conveyed within the 

framework, not within the definition so no, I am happy to put this to 

one side and go through that caucusing on an objective basis. 

 20 

MS DAWSON:  Right, that will be helpful, thank you very much. 

 

MR BONIS:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Bonis, just one final matter, I think, and really in 25 

anticipation that the relevant parties will need to talk about this matter 

again and we come back to Sensitive Activities on page 95 of the 

version provided to the Council dated 16 March. 

 

 So if we look at the definition of “sensitive activities” there when it 30 

comes up on the screen 

 

  [10.50 am] 

 

 So just testing these matters with you a minute, so we look at D and 35 

healthcare facilities, looking at how the other definitions work, we have 

got a definition in the plan proposed for healthcare facilities, and we 

have got another one for hospitals, and we heard yesterday I think from 

Ms Dixon that Transpower had noted the issue in regard to the National 

Policy Statement on electricity transmission in regard to hospitals being 40 

a class of sensitive activity and I think her view was you would not 

oppose those going into the first list, in other words under that word 

“means”. 

 

 Then I tested with her whether it would also need to be covered by the 45 

exclusions relating to airport noise.  So just a bit of context for you, 
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perhaps working through some questions, am I right to think that given 

we have got separate definitions of healthcare facility and hospital, we 

are going to need to cover both concepts in the first set of what 

sensitive activities mean in any way, and it could cover both, are we? 

 5 

MR BONIS:   I would have to look at whether or not hospitals were nested 

within the definition of healthcare facilities but if it was not then, yes, 

they would both have to be individually listed. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 10 

 

MR BONIS:   Otherwise the NPS on electricity transmission is not followed 

through. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I had a look at that briefly and I have to say I have got my 15 

own doubts as to whether it is but nevertheless that is obviously a 

matter to think about.  And Ms Dixon agreed with me that where you 

have got this concept of perhaps “loose drafting” where it comes to 

thinks like – and I certainly was not blaming Ms Dixon for this, I take 

this to be a collective drafting product of different minds, without 20 

paternity being claimed by anybody.   

 

 So “including” and “include”, and she agreed “include” indeed was 

intended to provide or effectively in other words, if the accommodation 

is provided for overnight that prerequisite has to be satisfied before D is 25 

triggered. 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Rather than inclusive – It is not an inclusive kind of 30 

concept, it is actually a prerequisite. 

 

MR BONIS:   So could it be worded to healthcare facilities that incorporate 

accommodation overnight? 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and you are comfortable with that? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, that would be logical. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I guess on the assumption that hospital is also picked up 40 

and if not, they need to be. 

 

 And then you made I think the point, I think I heard you say this, that in 

regard to these types of sensitive activity, i.e. the hospital type, 

healthcare type, that was both an issue for the Airport and the Port 45 

Company – did I hear that correct? 
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MR BONIS:   No, the point that I was raising is that for both the Port and the 

Airport, the initial drafting of this just limited healthcare facilities 

across the board where we are associated with sensitive activities.  The 

original exception was put in for the airport around where overnight 5 

accommodation was not a component of that healthcare facility. I think 

it already existed for the Lyttelton Port Company in terms of the Port 

overlay area. 

 

 The definition has sort of been subsumed, it used to be a lot bigger than 10 

this and it all those – I was going to use the word nuance, but I told 

myself not to – differences between particular types of infrastructure.  

So in subsuming all of those some of the detail has been lost around the 

individual infrastructure itself and I think that is one of the failings.   

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So in other words I think I hear part of what you are 

saying is for instance if we go back to D, healthcare facilities, and we 

think about hospitals as well, then the parties will need to think 

carefully about whether that rider about overnight accommodation 

pertains in all cases or just pertains in some cases, is that right, and in 20 

some contexts? 

 

MR BONIS:   That is correct and in my summary I indicated that if just the 

wording was used in terms of what I put forward in my evidence-in-

chief and just relates that to the Port overlay area that overcomes the 25 

issue for the Port but there may be other benefits in terms of going back 

to the infrastructure providers themselves and saying well should that 

apply to all of you given now where from some of the regulatory base 

documents around the NES and the New Zealand standard for transport 

noise, that there may be some ability to lessen the regulation around 30 

healthcare facilities where there is no overnight accommodation. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay.  All right well that is all useful to know and have 

you been in discussions with Ms McLeod for Transpower? 

 35 

MR BONIS:   Not on this particular issue, no. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right.  All right well thank you very much. 

 

 Now any questions arising from that, Ms Scott? 40 

 

MS SCOTT:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And Mr Williams? 

 45 

MR WILLIAMS:   No, sir, thank you. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Thanks, very much, Mr Bonis, you are free to 

go.   

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [10.55 am] 5 

 

 Just a matter to counsel on that; I think it would be useful if parties 

could confer and come back perhaps on a joint basis with some of these 

matters.  I guess even setting aside the likelihood that the panel will 

issue directions of a broader character, this one would appear to be one 10 

where on sensitive activities at least, the Airport, Transpower and the 

Council, if you three confer and see if they can come up with a 

consensus. 

 

MR……….:   Yes, thank you. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now we will just take a brief recess and be re-joined by 

the Chair for the remainder.  When I say brief, it will be two minutes or 

so. 

 20 

ADJOURNED [10.55 am] 

 

RESUMED [11.03 am] 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 25 

 

 Just for the record, I note that Mr Bonis evidence covered both the 

Airport and the Port, and there was a very general question that covered 

the Port as well. 

 30 

 I had no additional questions to Mr Bonis, and given that there is more 

work to be done and the planners will be coming back to us, I see no 

prejudice that I was absent for that. 

 

 So we will now go with Mr Mora, please. 35 
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<MIKE MORA [11.03 am] 
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MR MORA:   Thank you, sir.   

 

SJH:   Do you want to come forward to the fixed microphone in front of you 

or? 

 5 

MR MORA:   No, I have got one here. 

 

SJH:   All right.   

 

MR MORA:   I think my voice carries anyway, sir. 10 

 

SJH:   Okay.   

 

MR MORA:   We submitted on definitions part of water management 

structure, and we support the definition, and the memo that came out, 15 

sir, dated 30 March of the revised proposed opening legal submissions, 

the definition of water management structure we are happy with.   

 

  [11.05 am] 

 20 

 So then the next one was on Volume 1, Chapter 2, page 15 and 16 was 

on clean fill and when we have a look at the definition of clean fill, 

which came out of 30 March, sir, we are happy with that as well. 

 

 We just wondered though whether clean fill means material that when 25 

buried will have no adverse effects on people or the environment, 

whether that environment, and I presume it would, sir, is aquifers and 

water quality.  So did not know whether that needed to be mentioned in 

there.  Other than that, we are very happy with that. 

 30 

 And the next one was Chapter 2, Definitions “Yard Based Suppliers”, 

and when we go to that definition of yard based suppliers we are 

comfortable with that, but it does not mention there in rural activities, 

and that is the concern that we had that prompted our submission, was 

the operation of contractors yards in the rural zones.  So we are pretty 35 

comfortable with that, but I just didn’t know whether there needed to 

be a mention of ‘rural’ in there as well.  

 

 That is all. 

 40 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MR MORA:   I am willing to answer any questions.  

 

SJH:   Thank you. 45 
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MR NEILL:   No, questions, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, that is clear, thank you, Mr Mora. 5 

 

SJH:   Judge. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That’s very clear, thank you, sir. 

 10 

SJH:   Thank you very much Mr Mora, very clear, thank you. 

 

MR MORA:   Your welcome.  

 

SJH:   And thank you again for your attendance on behalf of your community 15 

board.  

 

<MIKE MORA WITHDREW [11.06 am]  

 

SJH:   All right, Federated Farmers?  20 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Thank you.   

 

SJH:   Ms MacKenzie, I understand you are to give evidence, is that correct? 

 25 

MS MACKENZIE:   Yes.   

 

SJH:   And perhaps Mr – no, we are not having two people give evidence.  

Who is it?  What is Mr Holloway’s role here? 

 30 

MS MACKENZIE:   Mr Holloway has got a supporting statement from the 

farmers perspective.  

 

SJH:   Well is it evidence Mr Holloway or is it a submission? 

 35 

MR HOLLOWAY:   I was providing a practical perspective in relation to one 

of the definitions. 

 

SJH:   Is it evidence, or is it a submission? 

 40 

MS MACKENZIE:   Evidence.   

 

MR HOLLOWAY:   Evidence, sir. 

 

SJH:   All right, well we will hear from Ms MacKenzie first and then we will 45 

hear from you. 
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MR HOLLOWAY:   Thank you, sir.   
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<FIONA MACKENZIE, affirmed [11.07 am] 



 Page 132 

  

Ch2: Definitions (Part) Commenced 31.03.16 

MS MACKENZIE:   I just have a short summary, sir.   

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   As Federated Farmers has issues with two definitions 5 

pertinent to this hearing.  There are others which we thought may have 

come under the Definitions Hearing, but they will be dealt with under 

Chapter 95, when the 95 Proposal is ready. 

 

 The two definitions are Indigenous Vegetation Clearance and Improved 10 

Pasture.  I will speak to the first and Richard Holloway will speak to 

the second.   

 

 Federated Farmers objects to the definition of Indigenous Vegetation 

clearance, in particular, and for its effect on the changes made to rule 15 

P1 Activity Standard A7, which have been based on this new 

definition. 

 

 Banks Peninsula Farmers are disappointed that the Council has chosen 

to change its 11 March post-mediation version, and has inserted 20 

“grazing” into the definition Indigenous Vegetation Clearance.  This 

has gone some way to destroying process made at the hearing so far. 

 

 If I can explain why; instead of acknowledging livestock grazing as 

part of farming activities, including in areas which have only recently 25 

been reclassified is what will be, if all goes well, sites of ecological 

significance.  The Council has, in its 24 March revised version, decided 

to, if you like, criminalise livestock grazing and to call it “clearance”, 

tucking it away at Activity Standard P1, A7.   

 30 

 The Council refers in its opening submissions at paragraph 4.8 to this 

as, I think a minor change – I do not have the submission in front of me 

– we regard it as, as much more than a minor change. 

 

  [11.10 am] 35 

 

 In the 24 March version, farmers will have to search hard to find any 

permitted activity related to day to day farming, livestock grazing that 

most of them are engaged in.  The definition is, page 37 of the 24 

version – that is the new version, yes – it just simply says, it means; the 40 

felling or clearing of indigenous vegetation, including cutting, 

crushing, cultivation, irrigation, now grazing, chemical application, 

artificial drainage, stop banking or burning. 

 

 We say that grazing is not clearance, simply the plain reading of the 45 

word, every dictionary we looked at talked about sheep and cattle 
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eating grass in a field or on pasture land with no mention of, for 

example indigenous vegetation. 

 

 It is contrived at best to call “grazing”, “indigenous vegetation 

clearance”, it makes no sense if you put the word - - -  5 

 

SJH:   Just pause a moment, Ms Mackenzie. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Scott, can you remind us of how this, because this 

word “grazing” was not in the 16 March version, but it pops in to the 10 

version attached to legal submissions dated the 30 March, and I cannot 

remember, and my memory might have failed me, but I cannot 

remember what the justification given for that was in the Council’s 

evidence – can you help? 

 15 

MS SCOTT:   Sir, I am sorry I cannot help, but I can find that out for you. 

 

SJH:   Well it seems to be simply that DOC and Forest and Birds sought it? 

 

MS SCOTT:   That is the submission, it is linked to - - -  20 

 

SJH:   But you have an agreement without independent evidence from the 

Council is it, it covers it off – you can have a look at that anyway. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 25 

 

MS SCOTT:   Sorry, I cannot assist at the moment, but I can look at - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It does seem very surprising given that we are still waiting 

for the outcome of Panel directed processes on the other topics? 30 

 

MS SCOTT:   In terms of this version of the proposal, the Council included in 

it its position as it stands for each of the natural and cultural heritage 

working streams, but that is on the proviso as set out in the opening 

legal submissions that that work is continuing in that separate work 35 

stream, sir. 

 

 The option is we could have deleted them from the proposal, but - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It does seem at least quite provocative, given the 40 

substance of the matters that we have heard and awaiting responses on, 

and as I say I cannot recall any experts saying why it was justified in a 

drafting sense. 
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MS SCOTT:   Sir, there is no intention to crossover what is happening in those 

separate mediations at all and I apologise if there has been any 

confusion there. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well it is quite substantive topic on which we have had 5 

another hearing and we are waiting to conclude it. 

 

SJH:   All right, carry on, Ms Mackenzie. 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Sir, on that point, we are concerned because we are not 10 

quite sure of the process but it seems that we have – Federated Farmers 

has a “last call” if you like, to get something in on 7 April, after which 

time, we do not know if we have got another time before the Panel or 

not, I did ask the Council and they seem to think it was just written and 

then that is the end of the matter when, so we are quire concern, that is 15 

why we mention it here in the context of this hearing. 

 

 We hope that we can talk to it again, but if we do not, we will just have 

to speak to it on 7 April closing submissions on 9.1. 

 20 

SJH:   No, there is going to be another hearing on those outstanding matters 

from that chapter. 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Thank you, sir.   

 25 

 In the group of the words in the definition, the word “grazing” is the 

odd one out, it does not fit the category, as the category deals with 

deliberate removal of indigenous vegetation by humans.  Animals 

arguably cannot clear anything for specific purposes.  Not only is it 

jarring to see grazing in the definition semantically, it is also 30 

disconcerting and provocative to farmers to imply that livestock 

grazing is viewed as simply “clearance of indigenous vegetation”.  

Some of the same parties earlier asked for “grazing” to be a 

noncomplying activity. 

 35 

 We thought that progress was being made towards a useful plan and 

that evidence at the hearing had so far shown that livestock grazing 

farmers on Banks Peninsula are both interested in and achieving good 

biodiversity outcomes. 

 40 

 Federated Farmers prefers the 11 March post-mediation version with 

rule P2, which does not alienate the farming community, while using 

the term “clearance for the activity of livestock grazing”. 

 

 Do we have the 11 March – no? 45 
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  [11.15 am] 

 

 That sort of disappeared, that was a post-mediation version that we 

like, and I believe that the current version, even Forest and Bird which 

is quite a rare agreement, says that they – I believe they also support 5 

this option B, which is to show livestock grazing as a separate activity. 

 

 The Council would say that the effect of options A and B will be 

exactly the same.  I am concerned that the Panel has not seen options A 

and B, but they are in the 11 March version, and I could attach that to 10 

this statement if it would help. 

 

 In that case, we prefer the 11 March rule P2, option B, which does not 

require the unnecessary inclusion of “grazing” into the definition of 

indigenous vegetation clearance. 15 

 

 We refer to the Panel to the revised proposal, Chapter 9.1, dated 

11 March 2016 at pages 11 and 48.  At page 11 we will be asking the 

Panel to delete P1, activity standard A8, option A, and to accept the 

better alternate, option B at P2 and activity standard A, this will be in 20 

our closing submissions for 9.1 – hopefully at another hearing if we get 

the opportunity. 

 

 At page 48 we ask the Panel at this hearing, to reject the consequential 

amendment caused by the adoption of option A, of the definition of 25 

indigenous vegetation clearance by deleting the word “grazing” from 

the definition. 

 

 Farmers are looking to find themselves in this plan and they expect to 

see a simple and clear activity called “livestock grazing”, since that is 30 

what most farmers are doing. 

 

 They have asked me to convey their opposition to the wording at P1, 

activity standard A7, “clearance caused by grazing”, which implies that 

the subject activity is clearance rather than simply livestock grazing. 35 

 

 We believe this hearing has understood that farming that is, “livestock 

grazing”, takes place as it has done for decades in areas that may, if all 

goes well, be classified as sites of ecological significance.  Farmers are 

adamant that livestock grazing do not - - -  40 

 

SJH:   Ms Mackenzie, I am sorry to interrupt you, but this is dealing now with 

definitions, I have already indicated to you that we will need to wrap up 

hearing on the indigenous - - -  

 45 

MS MACKENZIE:   Right, I have just one - - -  
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SJH:   - - - flora and vegetation matters, so just stick to the definitions please. 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Okay, last paragraph – but is in fact an important part of 

on farm biodiversity management. 5 

 

 Richard Holloway will speak to this when he addresses the definition 

of improved pasture and explains why Federated Farmers would like to 

see a less prescriptive definition which better reflects farming practices 

on Banks Peninsula. 10 

 

 I do have copies of this if the Panel would want it, if I can - - -  

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you. 

 15 

MS MACKENZIE:   That is all. 

 

SJH:   Do we have an exhibit number? 

 

MR……….:   Four, sir. 20 

 

SJH:   Four. 

 

MR……….:   Yes. 

 25 

EXHIBIT #4 – HIGHLIGHTS PACKAGE FROM FIONA MACKENZIE 

– FEDERATED FARMERS 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   I would have liked to attach the 11 March at page 11, 

which has sort of vanished from all records it seems, but there was an 30 

enormous amount of discussion about it. 

 

SJH:   Ms Scott, where is the 11 March version?  Did that come from 

mediation, or? 

 35 

MS MACKENZIE:   It was post-mediation, circulated. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And is this – we are speaking Natural and Cultural Heritage 

version? 

 40 

MS MACKENZIE:   Yes, revised proposal. 

 

SJH:   Because we are making enquiries at the moment because there suddenly 

appeared on our desk yesterday a clean and a tracked version following 

mediation on the whole of the indigenous flora and fauna section.  45 

There is no mediation report – we do not know – I mean the secretariat 



 Page 137 

  

Ch2: Definitions (Part) Commenced 31.03.16 

is checking on it and it might be something at our end, but it just 

appeared on our desk yesterday. 

 

MS SCOTT:   I will investigate that further as well, sir. 

 5 

SJH:   But we should have all the various iterations of this available to us, they 

should not disappear and in fact I am sure they have not. 

 

MS SCOTT:   I am sure they have not disappeared either, sir, but I will find 

that out. 10 

 

SJH:   All right, thank you. 

 

 Mr Neill, any questions? 

 15 

MR NEILL:   So you are referring to the 11th of March? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Yes. 

 

MR NEILL:    I have a comprehensive revised proposal of the definitions of 20 

16 March; is that one in the same thing or is there something different? 

 

  [11.20 am] 

 

MR NEILL:   Right, okay, that is fine. 25 

 

SJH:   You are referring to the provisions for the Indigenous Flora and Fauna 

Hearings under Culture and Natural Heritage, aren’t you? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Yes, but the definition - - - 30 

 

SJH:   Which is not what this Hearing is about. 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   I do not think that definition appears, the indigenous 

vegetation appearance - - - 35 

 

SJH:   I understand that but this Hearing is about the definitions that are in 

front us, nothing else.  I have already indicated and it has been made 

plain when we adjourned those Hearings that following mediation and 

expert conferencing we would need other Hearings to finalise this 40 

matter. 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Yes, sorry, sir.  I thought if it doesn’t – it is a definition 

so - - - 

 45 

SJH:   But we have already said it will, all right? 
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MS MACKENZIE:   Thank you. 

 

MR NEILL:   Can I then phrase it another way; on the 16 March in the 

definitions, the word “grazing” was not included in the Definitions 5 

Schedule but by the 30 March which is the latest comprehensive 

Revised Proposal, it does appear. 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Yes, I think so, yes. 

 10 

MR NEILL:   And it is your understanding, am I right, that it appears because 

of evidence that has been provided by Forest and Bird and perhaps, 

looking at the screen, by CCC and the Crown. 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   That is not my understanding because I do not think any 15 

evidence was provided on this.  I think it is a very recent thing and that 

may be the Council’s preferred version but we were all speaking to 

another version in some detail and Forest and Bird itself agrees in an 

odd way with us that Option B, which provides a permitted activity for 

livestock grazing, simply because it is the most obvious - - - 20 

 

SJH:    But in the earlier chapter, grazing was treated as part of clearance, 

wasn’t it?  That was one of your complaints with it. 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   In the Operative Plan or in that - - - 25 

 

SJH:    No, no, no, when we were dealing with the Hearings on Indigenous 

Flora and Fauna, clearance for the SESs grazing was treated as 

clearance for that purpose? 

 30 

MS MACKENZIE:    Yes. 

 

SJH:    So that is probably the genesis of it.  Whether it is right or wrong is 

something we will have to decide and our definition will be guided by 

the decision we make in that chapter and you will recall a discussion 35 

that went further about the decision that had to be made once 

significant areas were identified but for clearance purposes, whether or 

not it was worth saving, and that was a community decision from the 

Council from which we had no evidence.  So you will recall that very 

well, Ms Mackenzie. 40 

 

MS MACKENZIE:    Mm. 

 

MR NEILL:   Sorry, that finishes my - - - 

 45 

SJH:   Sorry, I didn't want to interrupt but we were running two things together. 
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MR NEILL:   Yes, we will just finish it by saying it is not there in the 

16 March but it is there in the 30 March. 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Yes. 5 

 

MR NEILL:   Correct, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Ms Mackenzie.  Just from before we move to the 

next definition and the next witness, from your involvement with the 

Natural and Cultural Heritage discussions, I just want a sort of yes or 

no answer to this, is the definition of “improved pasture” also part of 

those Natural and Cultural Heritage mediation discussions? 15 

 

MS MACKENZIE:    Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:    All right, so when we come to that definition it falls into the 

same basket, it is still being discussed – well, it has been discussed and 20 

it forms part of that decision-making bundle which we will need to 

weight before we decide on the definitions. 

 

MS MACKENZIE:    Yes, I hope so.   

 25 

MS DAWSON:    All right, thank you for that. 

 

 Mr Chairman, could I just ask Ms Scott for a little bit of clarification? 

 

SJH:   Yes, of course. 30 

 

MS DAWSON:   In the latest version, the 30 March version, there are these 

amendments that are shown in orange which on the front page, it does 

not say where they have come from, but I note in your legal 

submissions it says they have come principally, I think, from changes 35 

made through other Hearings since the last Revised Proposal on the 

16 March, in particular, Natural and Cultural Heritage and General 

Rules. 

 

 And I think maybe they have come through the RNN and possibly the 40 

Open Space so am I taking it that the orange changes that have been 

made are the Council’s current position on those chapters that are yet to 

be finally decided? 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, that is correct.  It’s an update in terms of where a Revised 45 

Proposal has been filed in one of those contexts, then it is being 
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incorporated into this document.  There is one exception in that the 

orange text also shows some definitions that were decided on in 

Decision 18, yes. 

 

  [11.25 am] 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so if you put the 18 ones to the side, because they are 

(INDISTINCT 00.22) – so it is where the Council has filed an updated 

proposal with us on something that has been ongoing since the 

16 March, you have incorporated this Council’s position in orange, 10 

have you? 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, that is correct and in hindsight, perhaps we should have just 

crossed out the NCH related definitions and I apologise for that. 

 15 

MS DAWSON:   Because we just need to be, I suppose, alert to the fact that in 

some instances such as the Natural and Cultural Heritage, there are 

decisions still to be made.  There are parties that have not all agreed on 

the Council’s position where, say, for the RNN zone, Residential New 

Neighbourhood zone, although they might also be shown in orange, 20 

they are things that have generally been agreed between the parties.  

We just need to realise the difference between some of those. 

 

MS SCOTT:    Yes, thank you for those questions. 

 25 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you very much. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Judge. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:    And I think in light of that and other observations I do 30 

not have any questions, I suppose.   

 

 Just noting that is characterised as a minor change in paragraph 4.8 A 

on page 10 of the submissions which I guess in hindsight is perhaps not 

quite accurate. 35 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Mackenzie, this just overlaps back to the earlier Hearing 

and you will recall that there was discussion between myself in 

particular and the ecologists in relation to clearance of indigenous 

vegetation and Federated Farmers’ first concern was that SESs were 40 

simply drawn on farms without proper consultation and a full process? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   And it was pointed out to them that there was then a second step for 45 

clearance which they accepted required a community decision and that 
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is the value of the significant indigenous flora and whether it is worth 

saving it? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Yes. 

 5 

SJH:   If there is a proper process in place that includes consultation given the 

concession by the interested parties that there must be landowner 

co-operation for it to work; what is Federated Farmers’ view of grazing 

within those SESs that have gone through a proper process? 

 10 

MS MACKENZIE:   I think the rules are put in such a way that grazing within 

an SES which has gone through a proper process - - - 

 

SJH:   No, I am not interested in what is in the rules. I am interested in what is 

Federated Farmers’ position on grazing within a properly consultative 15 

SES? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Our position is that grazing should go on within those 

areas as it has done and those areas are simply now, if you like, met. 

 20 

SJH:   No, a lot of those areas – and we heard evidence from your own 

members – are fenced off and shut up. 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Oh, sorry, sir. 

 25 

SJH:   It is within the SES I am talking about.  Assume, just for this question, 

assume there has been full consultation, agreement, everyone is happy 

and it is then marked on the farm and protected by covenant or just by 

being an SES, you would not contend there should be grazing within 

that zone, would you, because that could amount to clearance. 30 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   It is difficult, sir, because this was – you probably 

remember the evidence from Pam and Ian Richardson who have got 

large SESs, which they own grazing and they have had grazing for 

decades and their position - which Federated Farmers is putting their 35 

position – Is that grazing, according to a Farm Management Plan, that 

is why this whole package will make this work and only this package. 

 

 Grazing in certain circumstances within an SES ought to be able to 

continue and the rule says if it has happened within the last 12 months, 40 

I think currently the rule is, we do not mind the rules as they are and we 

would agree that if grazing within an SES which is in the current 

proposal, we have not objected to that. 

 

 If it has been going on for the last – it has to have been happening 45 

within the 12 months prior to, I think the wording is the - - - 
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SJH:   It was a specified date? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Yes, that and it is noted obviously in the plan and the 

reasons why are clear, perhaps actually silver tussock would be overrun 5 

with grass and herb species or whatever if it wasn’t.  There would still 

be situations where grazing could go on within an SES, that is part of - 

- - 

 

SJH:   But a farm management plan is part of a properly considered SES, isn’t 10 

it? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Yes, but so we - - - 

 

SJH:   And so it would only be in that limited case that grazing would be 15 

allowed within an SES, in the farm management? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   Okay, thank you.  You may stand down, thank you. 20 

 

 Now, Mr Holloway, would you come forward. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [11.30 am] 

 25 
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<RICHARD STEVENSON HOLLOWAY, sworn [11.31 am] 
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SJH:   Just take a seat, Mr Holloway.  Could you give us your full name 

please? 

 

MR HOLLOWAY:   Richard Stevenson Holloway. 

 5 

SJH:   And where do you reside, Mr Holloway? 

 

MR HOLLOWAY:   Pigeon Bay. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Do you have a formal role in Federated Farmers or are you 10 

simply a member? 

 

MR HOLLOWAY:   I simply work with Federated Farmers. 

 

SJH:   Now, I am not having a go at you but this Panel made orders at its pre-15 

hearing meeting, there was a clear report issued and posted online that 

evidence to be given needs to be in written form and filed by a certain 

date and Ms Mackenzie is fully aware of that, I imagine you were not 

aware of it? 

 20 

MR HOLLOWAY:   No, sir. 

 

SJH:   All right.  Well, we will hear from you because I don’t want to prejudice 

you but this is an issue we have had unfortunately with 

Federated Farmers throughout this process, there have been difficulties 25 

that have been of your own – not you, the organisation’s own making.   

 

 So you just go ahead and tell us what it is you want to say about the 

definition for “improved pasture”. 

 30 

MR HOLLOWAY:   Okay, thank you very much, sir.  There is a couple of 

PowerPoint slides with your permission I will - - - 

 

SJH:   Yes, we will bring those up, thank you. 

 35 

MR HOLLOWAY:   I farm 27 hundred acres Pigeon Bay and Le Bons Bay 

and the comments I am about to make reflect extensive discussions I 

have had with farming colleagues, with Federated Farmers so really it 

is trying to provide a practical perspective around the implications of 

the current “improved pasture” definition and what it will mean for us 40 

in reality.   

 

 I would just like to note that through mediation, and I took an active 

part in the two sessions of mediation that we had, we weren’t able to 

come to agreement around a revised definition for “improved pasture” 45 

and hence being referred back to the Panel. 
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 I would just like to – a couple of opening comments.  The current 

definition, the current proposed definition of “improved pasture” we 

really feel it is a three-headed conjunctive monster which we think is 

overly complex, over complicated and is actually divorced from the 5 

practical reality of farming on Banks Peninsula.  And that current 

definition you have in front of you, the first clause relates to what is 

there on the ground in terms of exotic pasture species, by and large we 

have no problems with that, I will make a couple of brief comments in 

a minute.  10 

 

 The second clause is really around how that exotic pasture got there 

and we would contend, for a number of reasons I will explain in a 

minute, we would contend that that is not really relevant.  And the third 

clause puts an arbitrary timeframe around when that area must have 15 

been treated as improved pasture which again, from our point of view, 

is pretty arbitrary and not particularly realistic. 

 

 If that current definition of improved pasture is applied to the letter 

what it means is that there are very large areas of pastureland on 20 

Banks Peninsula that is indisputably improved pasture in terms of 

species composition, in terms of the way it is managed and the way it is 

used.  Indisputably improved pasture but if that definition is applied to 

the letter it would not be improved pasture.   

 25 

  [11.35 am] 

 

 The implications for us as farmers are that we would need to jump 

through another whole set of hurdles in terms of maintaining it as 

improved pasture as it doesn’t become a permitted activity, it is a much 30 

higher threshold in terms of how we can manage that pasture for 

economic use.  So we can move onto and I have marked up on the next 

slide just our proposed changes to that current version and I just make a 

few comments on why we are proposing these changes. 

 35 

 The first clause; really no problems with that except it is currently 

limiting exotic pasture to grass and herb species which is 

agronomically wrong.  We have got legumes, we have got medics (ph 

1.14) there is a whole range of other things there that make up 

improved pasture.  So I think we should just be referring to exotic 40 

pasture species, delete “grass and herb”. 

 

 And “visually predominant”, very subjective, there are ways of 

measuring improved pasture and species composition with quadrants, 

you know, good agronomic scientifically based methods and if it comes 45 
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to a point of argument that is what should be applied not the subjective 

means. 

 

 The second clause really talks about how that improved pasture got 

there.  Now, we don’t think it is relevant, it is whether it is improved 5 

pasture and how it is being used.  So we have proposed clause B gets 

deleted in its entirety and there is three main reasons for that – If we 

can jump to the next slide please. 

 

 The first reason is that it is an unnecessarily complicated definition.  It 10 

is not relevant how the improved pasture got there, just that it is there 

and it is being used for pastoral purposes.  Secondly, it is not actually 

realistic or reasonable to prove the various methods that are mentioned 

in clause 2 in many cases.  Many areas of improved pasture on 

Banks Peninsula were originally developed up to 140 years ago, e.g. 15 

through hand oversowing and topdressing.   

 

 I was going to bring in one of the old fiddles that the old timers used to 

use and marched over the hills in the 1880s and 1890s – but I am sorry 

I had to leave my truck for a service and I didn’t want to carry it across 20 

town. 

 

 In most cases it is impossible to provide the hard evidence of those 

things actually having taken place.  There may have been no other 

actions taken to maintain that improved pasture since cocksfoot seed 25 

was spread across those areas 100, 140 years ago.  In some cases it has 

been subsequently topdressed.  In some cases there are areas where 

there has been no subsequent action.  To be able to go back and prove 

that that original action took place is virtually impossible other than the 

presence of the pasture species themselves which is covered off in 30 

clause 1. 

 

 Another example relating to the second point I have on that slide is, 

even if you go back as recently as the 1980s when the subsidies were 

pulled off the farming industry, up until the 1980s there was a lot of 35 

topdressing going on on areas of pastureland on Banks Peninsula that 

had not been topdressed since, it is not economic to do so, but they are 

still improved pasture in terms of species composition. 

 

 For many farmers even to be able to dig out those records going back to 40 

the 70s and 80s of what they did, some might be able to do it but many 

won’t.  So we are asking for a level of proof in the definition that in 

many cases won’t be possible to meet. 

 

 The third point, the third reason as to why we think the second part of 45 

the definition should be removed is actually very important.  It tries to 
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define in the definition a number of agents of change for developing 

improved pasture and it talks about oversowing, it talks about 

topdressing, it talks about irrigation and I am not sure where that came 

from, it talks about direct drilling which is certainly relevant in recent 

times.   5 

 

  [11.40 am] 

 

 But there are very large areas of improved pasture that had none of 

those things that are mentioned in the definition.  They have developed 10 

as improved pasture through seed that has been carried in by animals, 

through windblown seed, through good ongoing pasture management, 

rotational grazing that allows the dominant expression of those more 

productive species. 

 15 

 So there are things, there are areas on our farm that have not been over-

sown, have not been top-dressed, have not been direct drilled, have not 

been all of the things in the definition but if you go out and throw a 

quadrant on the ground, measure the pasture species they are, it is 

improved pasture.  If the definition is applied it would fail the test.  It is 20 

improved pasture regardless. 

 

 If we can please go back to the previous slide and I will just touch 

briefly on part C of the definition.  It puts an arbitrary timeframe 

around the original version.  The area has been subject to routine 25 

pasture maintenance or improvement since 1 June 1996.  Where on 

earth this came from I have got no idea.  What happens if we developed 

an area into improved pasture on 1 June 1996, the heavy investment, it 

is improved pasture – It has been used as improved but it would fail 

this test. 30 

 

 So to me to put a timeframe such as this around it is not realistic.  

However we think it is realistic to broaden that third clause to refer to 

the fact that it is an area that is being used for grazing domesticated 

livestock, so – and if we can go to the last slide please. 35 

 

 So our cleaned up version of the definition would simply read, 

improved pasture means an area of pasture where exotic pasture species 

are predominant vegetation cover and – sorry that should be B, not C – 

the area has been subjected to routine grazing by domesticated 40 

livestock. 

 

 Now if you compare the current version of improved pasture with the 

delightfully simple current version of indigenous vegetation, it is 

actually chalk and cheese.  The current version of improved pasture is 45 

complex, it is unrealistic for us to try and prove that we meet those 
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requirements.  The definition for indigenous vegetation is simple, it is 

good.  I cannot understand why we are actually having a definition put 

in front of us that we have to comply with in order to be able to 

continue to maintain improved pasture that is so complex and so 

difficult for us to achieve. 5 

 

 I will leave it at that.  I had some photographs, but dare say it’s 

superfluous. 

 

SJH:   No, no, if you wish to refer to refer us to photographs, by all means do 10 

so. 

 

MR HOLLOWAY:   Okay I will just skip, a very quick flick through some 

photographs.  

 15 

 The first one is looking up into a lot of the country we farm at Pigeon 

Bay taken in about the 1880s and you will note, 1886 I think, and you 

will note there is very little bush left – that was all heavily bushed right 

across that country – and it is all in pasture.  Is it improved?  Is it 

native?  The first thing the old timers did was get out there and spread 20 

cocksfoot seed around which is an improved pasture species.  So most 

of what you see there is as of the late 1800s improved pasture. 

 

 The second slide – these are the old fellas that did it and the two things 

I would like you to note are the fact that it has obviously come out of 25 

heavy timber, the amount of logs and stumps in the background, and 

for those with a tuned-in, discerning eye, they are clearly sitting on a 

pasture sward that has cocksfoot, it has Timothy, you would not have a 

sward like that developing out of native danthonias and so on.   

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Where is it located? 

 

MR HOLLOWAY:   This one is also I believe on our property at Pigeon Bay.  

It was taken by the family that we purchased from, and dated 1914.   

 35 

  [11.45 am] 

 

 The next photograph please, again higher up on the property, all would 

have been very heavily timbered.  This is slightly later, probably about 

the 30s I think.  Again, note the timber lying across the country but 40 

improved pasture species.  That country has had very little subsequent 

treatment to maintain improved pasture but cocksfoot is dominant, it is 

the dominant species and I could walk you through there at this time of 

the year and where it has not been grazed you have got cocksfoot seed 

head up around your waist.   45 
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 Next slide please, and we are coming very close to the end. 

 

 In fact that early work on spreading cocksfoot seed around led to a 

huge cocksfoot seed industry.  They were harvesting cocksfoot seed by 

1906 and again this is taken on our property, they were harvesting 5 

cocksfoot seed for re-sowing over that country and for export to 

Australia and to other areas that were being broken in for farming 

activity in the North Island.  So those bags are full of cocksfoot seed 

that had been harvested, up the top. 

 10 

 Next slide please.  Again, it is on its way from the big seed cleaning 

plant that existed on our property down to the wharf.   

 

 So the relevant point is that post-clearance there was a huge amount of 

improved pasture development activity took place across that country 15 

to the point that it supported a very large seed industry.  You can go 

into many areas that have had very little, if any in some cases, 

subsequent treatment to maintain that improved pasture but the 

improved pasture is still there.   

 20 

 So going back to the current definition, because you cannot prove it 

happened or because it has not been recent, it would fail the test of 

what is improved pasture. 

 

 And then the final photo please.  This is about the early 1940s.  If you 25 

look carefully you can see on the upper cul-de-faces regenerating bush 

starting to come back in and I point you particularly to the skyline right 

up on the top left hand side, yes, and that patch of bush was a remnant 

patch of bush which was subsequently given to DoC and has become 

the Goodwin Reserve.  So that is remnant, good condition, original 30 

forest.  That 15 hectares, 13 hectares, 15 hectares is now part of an 

80 hectare proposes SES. The remainder of the 80 hectares is our land 

and covers the lower area below that bush.  The point is that that has 

regenerated sufficiently since the 1940s to warrant protection as an 

SES.  And we totally advocate that, support that. 35 

 

 So right across that landscape you have got in front of you there is 

improved pasture. There is regenerating bush.  There are areas that 

need to be, that will go back to reserve status, such as on our country 

but there is also a lot of country that is improved pasture and it needs to 40 

be a realistic definition of improved pasture that allows us to maintain 

that as such. 

 

SJH:   All right, thank you. 

 45 

MR HOLLOWAY:   Thank you very much, sir. 
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SJH:   Just stay there. 

 

 Now, Ms Scott, Ms Mackenzie is not well aware, she should be well 

aware of the requirement of filing written evidence and pre-circulating 5 

it.  You will not have had the chance to see Mr Holloway’s evidence 

and nor has the Panel, but I will give you the chance to cross-examine 

if you wish to do so. 

 

MS SCOTT:   No, sir, I do not have any questions.  My understanding is this 10 

evidence has also been presented in the Natural and Cultural Heritage 

Hearing and my preference is that it remains in that context and I am 

comfortable that those discussions are continuing in relation to this 

definition. 

 15 

SJH:   Well I think the definitions will fall out of the decisions in that chapter 

but I just wanted to give you the opportunity. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir. 

 20 

SJH:   Thank you.  The Crown? 

 

MR RYAN:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   The other two parties are not interested in this particular thing.  Mr 25 

Neill, any questions? 

 

MR NEILL:   Just one question.  Are you aware of anywhere in New Zealand 

whether it be statute, farming, ministry, department of, or farming 

organisations, where the definition has in fact been used, and I am 30 

talking about not necessarily your definition but the definition that you 

are now suggesting that we amend. 

 

  [11.50 am] 

 35 

MR HOLLOWAY:   No, sir, I am not.  Equally I am not aware of anyone who 

has used the original definition, which to me reads more as a definition 

of improved pasture technique than of improved pasture per se.  

 

MR NEILL:   Thank you. 40 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   No questions, thank you.   

 45 

SJH:   Judge? 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   I am just going to explore something, sir.  But on a 

preliminary basis, on the basis that this matter is going to have to be 

considered in the wider context, so could we go back to your track 

change please, and B. 5 

 

 Do I take – I don’t want you to go back through your evidence, but I 

take part of what you are saying that pasture improvement can and has 

occurred naturally or can be done by a form of pasture management or 

maintenance, is that right? 10 

 

MR HOLLOWAY:   That is correct.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That is fine, now my next question.  And those means of 

say, intervention on the part of a human being to improve pasture, I 15 

think you said irrigation should not have a place on Banks Peninsula, is 

that what you said, or you put a question mark around its relevance.  

 

MR HOLLOWAY:   I cannot think of any examples where it is relevant of 

maintenance. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  So would another means available to the parties 

to explore, from your point of view, be one where B was there, but it 

simply said “there area is being modified or enhanced for livestock 

grazing, whether by natural means or by human pasture management”? 25 

 

MR HOLLOWAY:   Yes, that would be an option. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And if it went on to describe that pasture management in a 

non-exclusive way, such as “including by cultivation, over sowing, 30 

topdressing or direct drilling”, do you think there would be an issue 

with that? 

 

MR HOLLOWAY:   Yes, if we could have something that is non-exclusive, it 

would obviously solve the problem.  However, I would just like to 35 

restate that, I think from our point of view it is the end result, and what 

is there, that is more important than how it got there.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And ultimately if one was to say what improved pasture 

was as a concept, you would say “improved pasture is pasture that 40 

involves exotic species” which you have got in A, “is visually 

prominent.”  It can include native species, can’t it? 

 

MR HOLLOWAY:   It can, yes.  

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 
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MR HOLLOWAY:   But usually you would get a stronger expression of your 

improved species. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, all right.  Now my reason for exploring other choices 5 

with you was simply on the basis also that it is a word that implies 

some improvement has occurred, ie it is buried in the words “improved 

pasture” but that is something for you to think about.   

 

 Thank you. 10 

 

MR HOLLOWAY:   All right. 

 

SJH:   Thank you Mr Holloway, and thank you for coming along and giving 

your evidence, you may stand down.   15 

 

MR HOLLOWAY:   Thank you, sir. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [11.53 am] 

 20 

SJH:   Now Members of the Panel, we are well past the break, but we have 

only got two opening submissions as I understand it, are you happy to 

go one and finish those? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 25 

 

MR NEILL:   Yes.  

 

SJH:   All right, the Ngai Tahu opening then, please.  

 30 

MR NEILL:   Mr Chair, perhaps before their opening, as I note for the counsel, 

who is a staff member of Lane Neave, which I have an involvement 

and therefore would refuse myself both from this and from the second 

matter of Canterbury District Health Board. 

 35 

SJH:   Thank you.   

 

MR LECKIE:   Thank you, sir.  I have pre-filed legal submissions for 

Te Runanga.  

 40 

SJH:   Yes, you can take them as read, Mr Leckie.   

 

MR LECKIE:   Absolutely.  I intend to do that.  That is recording agreement 

and the rest is subject to other work streams.  So I am just here to 

answer any questions that the Panel might have. 45 
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SJH:   All right, thank you.  Ms Dawson, either for Te Runanga or for the 

Hospital Board? 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, I didn’t have any questions for either of those, thank you 

very much. 5 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Judge? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, neither did I, sir.  Thank you. 

 10 

SJH:   All right, nor do I.  thank you very much Mr Leckie for your written 

submissions.   

 

 As I said in opening, we would formally adjourn this hearing, as we 

have done with others rather than close. 15 

 

  [11.55 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I think Ms Limmer, sir.   

 20 

SJH:   Sorry, Ms Limmer. 

 

MS LIMMER:   I am the next scheduled appearance, just over the page in front 

of you.   

 25 

SJH:   I didn’t go to the second page. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, I am.   

 

SJH:   Let’s see if you can be succinct as Mr Leckie.   30 

 

MS LIMMER:   Possibly not, sir, but I will do my very best. 

 

SJH:   Goodness me.  You could perhaps take lessons from him.   

 35 

 This is the Wildlife Trust of Ms Seaton, which really is Airport stuff 

again, isn’t it? 

 

MS LIMMER:   No, sir.   

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, it is not. 

 

SJH:   All right.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It’s related to noise recreation and major sports facilities. 45 
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SJH:   Yes, all right, okay.  Well if you would speak briefly to your opening 

and then call your witness. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, sir.  Well I think really the essential point is that the 

changes to the definitions of major sports and recreation activity have 5 

implications for the Trust classification. 

 

SJH:   You mean the non-definition? 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, and that was not - - - 10 

 

SJH:   Because there is not a definition at the moment. 

 

MS LIMMER:   No, sir, and that was the point that was made by the Trust in 

Chapter 18 and through cross-examination as well.  The definition does 15 

not resolve that, but what does resolve the Trust’s concern in respect of 

the major sports definition, is the Council’s preparedness to extend the 

500 metre setback in the open space zone to minor sports as well.   

 

 What that means to the Trust is, it doesn’t matter where the line is 20 

between the minor or a major facility because they are both caught by 

the same framework.  So in that respect it resolves the Trust’s issue - - - 

 

SJH:   What’s the impact of that of the Gun Club who were granted a late 

submission, right? 25 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, sir, and that is covered in the opening submissions.  It is 

not entirely clear whether a shooting range would be minor or major, or 

it could be either, depending on what it comprises. 

 30 

SJH:   I am not bothered about that, I am just more concerned that the facilities, 

some of which have there for some considerable time, and just what 

impact the 500 metre setback would have on them, assuming it is 

applied across the board.   

 35 

MS LIMMER:   Those particular facilities, the impact would be if they 

changed their level of activity they would need a restricted 

discretionary consent and that would be - I think the proposal is 

notified to no one but the Trust, in the matter of just question of what 

the effects of the noise on the Trust activities.  40 

 

SJH:   All right.   

 

MS LIMMER:   So through Chapter 18 the Trust was not seeking to wind back 

the clock on any of the activities that are already within that distance, it 45 

really is about intensifying or increasing the potential for effects and 
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the introduction of new effects, because the Open Space zone adjoining 

the Trust property is a large area of vacant land. 

 

 And Mr Camp addressed that in his evidence, and his evidence – I kept 

the extract from the transcript out of my submissions was that “startling 5 

effects would be effectively guaranteed if a shooting range established 

in the area”.   

 

 So as I have said, in terms of how the major sports definition has been 

changed to Trust concerns in the Open Space Chapter would be 10 

resolved by imposing the same regulation on minor sports and major 

sports facility, there is however an outstanding issue about a particular 

rule for shooting ranges.  I haven’t troubled you terribly with that in 

this hearing, because the scope issue there is one that is being argued 

through the Chapter 18 Hearing.   15 

 

 That came through as a recommendation from the Mr Camp, supported 

by Dr Trevathan as to the potential noise effects of shooting ranges.  In 

fact Mr Camp’s evidence was, he did not know why they had not been 

made discretionary everywhere in the district.  It came out in that 20 

chapter because of the particular submission by the Trust in terms of 

what activities could set up in that Open Space zone. 

 

 The next implication then, relates to this definition of Recreation 

Activity and how that definition interrelates with the definitions of 25 

major, minor and motorised sports activities, and the Trust’s concern in 

relation to that definition are back in the Chapter 17 Hearing,  because 

in that hearing recreation activities were identified as permitted 

activities, but major and minor and motorised sports were not 

identified, they weren’t list anywhere, and therefore they would default 30 

to a different activity class that required consent. 

 

  [12.00 pm] 

 

 In Chapter 18, recreation, major, minor and motorised were all given 35 

their own activity status in the different tables.  So there was a distinct 

difference in how the two chapters dealt with recreation activity, and 

those chapters were notified at the same time.  The Trust submitted on 

them at the same time, it sought that major sports activities be deleted 

from Chapter 18.  It did not seek that same relief in Chapter 17.  In my 40 

submission, logically that indicates it did not understand Chapter 17 to 

be proposing the same thing as Chapter 18, and its land is surrounded 

by open space and rural zoned land. 

 

` And I attached a rough map to my legal submissions, simply to help the 45 

Panel understand that the Trust is just as concerned about what could 



 Page 156 

  

Ch2: Definitions (Part) Commenced 31.03.16 

happen in the rural Waimakariri zone as it is around the open space 

McLeans Island zone. 

 

 So in its relief in this chapter, the Trust put forward evidence and a 

request that the recreation activity definition be clarified to the extent 5 

that it excludes the other more particular types of recreation activities, 

and the discussion with Ms Carter yesterday, was obviously to the 

opposite effect, to clarify it o that that expressly includes all of those 

other activities. 

 10 

 The difficulty the Trust has with that, is that all of the effort that it has 

gone to in Chapter 18 to secure some regulation about activities in 

close proximity to its facilities, that might have an adverse effect on 

them, is then effectively undone because the same activities could be - - 

- 15 

 

SJH:   We understand the point. 

 

MS LIMMER:   So that, sir, is indeed the position of the Trust to sought a 

clarification that it understood up until the evidence at this Hearing was 20 

effectively making explicit what was implicit and as a result of 

Ms Carter’s new position that that is not the Council’s position. 

 

 Those, sir, are my submissions. 

 25 

SJH:   Is there any questions of Council? 

 

MS DAWSON:   I will put this question to Ms Seaton, but the issues you raise 

are much wider, are they not, than the open space zones and the rural 

Waimakariri zone.  I mean, the definition of recreation activity has 30 

already been decided for the purpose of Stage 1. 

 

 Do you accept that if someone was not involved in McLeans Island or 

shooting or noise, and you read the definition of recreation activity 

including for Stage 1, it does not say one way or the other – it certainly 35 

does not exclude anything, and it could be interpreted to incorporate the 

full spectrum of recreational activities, noisy or major or minor? 

 

MS LIMMER:    Yes ma’am, and the Trust accepts that it could be interpreted 

that way, the submission is that it could also have been interpreted the 40 

other way and my submission is the Trust is very likely not to have 

been the only party that interpreted it the other way that did not 

understand that wherever a sign, Permitted Recreational Activity, it 

also permitted major motorised and minor sports activities. 

 45 
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MS DAWSON:   But what you are asking for in evidence and in your 

submissions, is for the definition to explicitly exclude those non-

motorised and major and minor, but are you saying that you believe 

that the Trust’s submission is wide enough to exclude those from all 

zones where recreation activity might be used? 5 

 

MS LIMMER:   The Trust did not seek that in its submission, Ma’am, and 

submission, as I said, the evidence will tell us on the basis this was a 

clarification that was making explicit what was implicit. 

 10 

 The evidence that you have had from the Council is that that is not the 

case, and we do think the definition could be interpreted either way – 

and just from the Trust’s perspective,  the two chapters that treat it 

quite differently. 

 15 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, yes, and all rural zones have similar provisions that 

provide for recreational as permitted with only very limited controls. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes.  Quite a few zones do as I understand it. 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, that is what I understand as well. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes. 

 

  [12.05 pm] 25 

 

MS DAWSON:   So it is a – whatever solution is found, it has – first of all, I 

understand it has wide ranging, it could have wide ranging 

implications? 

 30 

MS LIMMER:   I think, ma’am, that that is where I have got to in my 

submissions and certainly the Trust understands that this is a difficulty 

because the clarification is not necessarily a simple fix. 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, whichever way it goes. 35 

 

MS LIMMER:   That’s right. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes.  All right, and I just have one other question.  When did 

endangered bird breedings start at the Isaac’s property, not just ponds 40 

with water fowl on them, but the actual breeding of the endangered 

birds that are there now? 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, I have made some enquiries since yesterday about that, 

and Dr Darling did address it in his Chapter 6 evidence that I think was 45 

paragraph 34, so that may help. 
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 The aviaries, the physical structures, were put in around the water 

supply that was put in place earlier about 25 years ago in the early 90s, 

the gun clubs that have made a further submission started in 1976 and 

1981 respectively. 5 

 

 What activity there was from them at the time the aviaries went in, I do 

not know. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But McLeans Island area generally was used for a wide range 10 

of sporting activities, some of which potentially had noise such as gun 

clubs prior to those aviaries going in? 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, ma’am, and as I said, the Trust’s submission is not about 

turning back the clock. 15 

 

 I think that I made the point in my legal submissions too, that the 

Operative Plan currently constrains the clubs to a 75 Lmax at their own 

boundaries which implicitly means a lower Lmax at the Peacock 

Springs, of course that is going in the Chapter 6 proposal, any Lmax 20 

constraints at all, let alone ones at the boundary – the site emitting 

noise – so this in combination could represent a far more lenient noise 

emitting framework than has previously applied as well. 

  

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, that is all my questions. 25 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Judge? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just a couple to follow up on that.  Firstly, if we look at 

the concept of recreation activity itself in terms of its ordinary meaning, 30 

you would accept that it is so broad it could cover the range from 

motorbike racing through to bird watching, or anything else?    

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, sir. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And the definition in the Plan, I think you said, you 

acknowledged it could be treated on a broad basis but also could be 

treated on a narrow basis.  And you went on to, I think, you made the 

submission to Ms Dawson, that the Trust would not be the only party 

caught out by this, there are other submitters and so forth that could 40 

well have been caught out.   

 

 Can you identify any particular submitter who was caught out? 

 

MS LIMMER:   No, sir, no, I have made that submission in my opening at 45 

19.3, and I have relied there on the fact that right up until the evidence 
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was exchanged for this chapter, Ms Seaton, Ms Hogan and Ms Carter 

as I can tell from the various statements filed, have been the only 

witnesses that have really provided any evidence indicating how this 

term has been interpreted. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And leaving Ms Seaton’s view aside, did the Council 

witness use such a divergence of the Plan on what it was meant to do? 

 

MS LIMMER:   They do now, sir, and that was a point in my cross-

examination yesterday, Ms Carter in her evidence in January and in 10 

Ms Hogan’s evidence in September last year, the evidence was aligned 

with Ms Seaton’s evidence. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you. 

 15 

SJH:   Ms Limmer, if one applies the simple dictionary meaning of 

recreational, and there is no suggestion that any other meaning should 

apply, all of these things are covered, there is no two definitions 

available, all of them fall within recreational, don’t they? 

 20 

MS LIMMER:   In a dictionary sense, yes, sir. 

 

SJH:   Not the statutory sense, in a simple language sense; the English 

language, they fall within recreational? 

 25 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, sir. 

 

SJH:   So you need a tortured process to get some other interpretation, 

wouldn’t you? 

 30 

MS LIMMER:   Sir, the interpretation in my submission is informed by the 

context that it arises which is the Plan that has - - - 

 

SJH:   If one applies a simple dictionary meaning of recreational, it covers off 

all of those other things, does it not? 35 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, sir, that is accepted. 

 

SJH:   And the Trust’s – the mischief the Trust wishes to address, is to have an 

exclusion zone, as I understand it, of 500 metres effectively, to prevent 40 

recreational activity within that zone that may impact on the Trust’s 

conservation activities? 

 

  [12.10 pm] 

 45 

MS LIMMER:   Certain types of recreation activities. 
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SJH:   Well recreation that would interfere with the conservation activity. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Which it - - -  

 5 

SJH:   If it was just people walking for example, or a kid flying a kite, maybe 

even equestrian, I do not know, but it is stuff – what you want stopped 

is stuff that will interfere with or potentially could interfere with the 

conservation activities of the Trust, that is what you are seeking in 

simple terms, isn’t it? 10 

 

MS LIMMER:   Sir, that those activities need consent, yes. 

 

SJH:   Right, thank you. If you would call your witness then please. 

 15 

MS LIMMER:   Thank you, sir, I call Ms Seaton. 
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<KIM MARIE SEATON, affirmed [12.11 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS LIMMER [12.11 pm] 

 

MS LIMMER:   Can you confirm please your full name is Kim Marie Seaton? 

 

MS SEATON:   Yes. 5 

 

MS LIMMER:   And you are a senior planner with Novo Group in 

Christchurch? 

 

MS SEATON:   Yes. 10 

 

MS LIMMER:   You have the qualifications and experience set out in your 

evidence dated 10 December 2015? 

 

MS SEATON:   Yes. 15 

 

MS LIMMER:   You prepared a brief of evidence in this matter dated 3 March 

2016? 

 

MS SEATON:   Yes. 20 

 

MS LIMMER:   Do you have any corrections you wish to make to the 

evidence? 

 

MS SEATON:   No thank you. 25 

 

MS LIMMER:   You confirm it to be true and correct to the best of your 

knowledge and ability? 

 

MS SEATON:   Yes. 30 

 

MS LIMMER:   I understand you prepared a highlights package, could you 

please read that and remain to answer any questions. 

 

MS SEATON:   Thank you. 35 

 

 My evidence primarily addressed the confusion and ambiguity 

surrounding the definitions of major sports facilities and by association 

minor sport facilities and recreation activities. 

 40 

 At the heart of the Trust original submissions and all the evidence that 

was to follow, was an aspiration to ensure adequate protections are 

built into the Replacement Plan for the Peacock Springs conservation 

area. 

 45 
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 In essence, what the Trust, myself and other experts on behalf of the 

Trust have sought, is to ensure that where activities are proposed they 

could have adverse noise effects on the endangered bird species, they 

be subject to a resource consent processes, those processes would 

require proposals to consider the impacts of activities on the birds, how 5 

effects can be mitigated and if they cannot be mitigated whether they 

should be granted or declined. 

 

 We have sought to limit the extent of that regulatory burden as far as 

reasonably possible, for example by restricting consenting requirements 10 

for major sport facilities in the open space McLeans Island zone, to a 

500 metre distance from Peacock Springs only. 

 

 The Trust submissions mediation and evidence on provisions relating 

to recreational activities and motorised sport facilities, major and minor 15 

sport facilities were all directed to this end. Unfortunately the full 

extent of the ambiguity surrounding these activities has not become 

apparent until near the end of the plan’s development. 

 

 I was present at the questioning of Ms Carter and Ms Hogan yesterday 20 

I agree that the definitions of major and minor sport facilities require 

further work, I also agree with Ms Limmer who stated in opening 

submissions that any changes to the definitions of – sorry, to the 

definition of major sport facilities has the potential for the rule 

framework around minor sport facilities to require greater significance 25 

to the Trust. 

 

 In regard to the definition of recreational facilities, my evidence for the 

Trust was generally proceeded on the understanding that it was not in 

the definition. This understanding came from a combination of 30 

discussions with Ms Hogan in respect of the rural chapter and the 

drafting of the open space chapter which for were example separately 

specified minor and major sports facility as permitted activities in the 

open space McLeans Island zone, even though recreational activities 

were already also specified as permitted activities – and as we have just 35 

been discussing, there does remain a lack of clarity around this issue. 

 

 Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. Ms Scott? 40 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS SCOTT [12.14 pm] 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, good afternoon, Ms Seaton, for the purposes of my 

questions, the one kilometre shooting rule is put to one side, and that is 45 
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a matter related to scope that I am moving to the open space hearing, so 

my questions are on that basis. 

 

 There are two issues at play, one is the “rules” in two separate hearings 

and of course the definitions as they relate to those, turning first to 5 

major sport facilities, I understand and I just want to get your 

clarification that the solution to this or what the solution – one of the 

solution lies in the rules and that there is a need for some “minor 

surgery” to those rules to ensure that the agreement that was reached 

between the Trust and the Council is provided for in those rules, you 10 

are on that same page? 

 

  [12.15 pm] 

 

MS SEATON:   Yes, it is one solution, it does not resolve the problem with the 15 

definitions per say, but it does address the Trust’s specific issues, yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, and in terms of the drafting of the definitions, you would be 

happy to be involved in a process of working to ensure they are 

definitions and that they work properly together? 20 

 

MS SEATON:   Yes, very happy, thank you. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And in terms of that process, the Panel’s decision on Stage 1 

definitions, there is an advice note, number 5, which I will just read to 25 

you, it says: “Where a word phrase defined includes the word ‘facility’ 

or ‘facilities’, the definition includes the use of that facility for that 

intended purpose unless expressly stated otherwise in the activity status 

tables’”, would you agree that that is a helpful advice note that needs to 

be taken into account in the redrafting? 30 

 

MS SEATON:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you. Just turning to recreation activity, it has become 

apparent over yesterday and this morning that there is a need for some 35 

further attention to the rules, but first in terms of the definition, Ms 

Carter in answer to questions from the Panel yesterday acknowledged 

that the definition of “recreation activity” as drafted in the latest revised 

proposal, acts as an umbrella to the definitions of motorised minor and 

major sport activities. 40 

 

 Putting to one side how the rules in Chapter 17 and 18 are drafted or 

currently drafted, would you agree that at present and on its face that is 

a fair and ordinary interpretation? 

 45 
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MS SEATON:   Without taking into context the drafting, it would be – I do not 

divorce that from the way the plan was drafted and how that informed 

the interpretation, but - - -  

 

MS SCOTT:   So the definition on its own, there are no specific exclusions, is 5 

there? 

 

MS SEATON:   There are no exclusions, there are no inclusions, it says 

nothing one way or the other. 

 10 

MS SCOTT:   So in terms of the rules, first the Open Space zone, if we 

continue on that basis and in terms of endeavouring to find a solution, 

if Ms Carter was seeking to exclude particular types of recreation 

activities from permitted activities, do you agree that one way of 

achieving this is in the activity status tables by referring to the various 15 

types of activities so “major/minor” and “motorise” and giving them 

their specific activity status? 

 

MS SEATON:   Yes, I think I understand your question, yes. 

 20 

MS SCOTT:   And added to that, one further way of clarifying this is, next to 

the activity, recreation activity in the tables, you could put in brackets 

the likes of “excluding motorise sport facilities” and that would assist 

the reader in understanding what fell within the wider recreation 

activity term. 25 

 

MS SEATON:   It would assist, yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Following that thought through, in terms of Ms Hogan’s 

highlights package that she presented yesterday, she confirm that she 30 

would be happy to reconsider the relevant aspects of the rural 

Waimakariri zone rules, that require amending to make it explicit what 

falls outside P11 to address the Trust’s concerns, Ms Hogan agreed that 

this will include a consent requirement for motorised sport activities 

and agreed on restricted discretionary status for that? 35 

 

MS SEATON:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Non-complying is not necessary; it is too onerous, correct? 

 40 

MS SEATON:   I think the issue is more that the Trust initially requested 

restricted discretionary, I would not say that noncomplying was 

necessarily too onerous but would have been restricted in scope to 

restricted discretionary, so we have agreed on that basis. 

 45 
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MS SCOTT:   Thank you – and in terms of working through the refinement for 

major and minor sport facility, is a need to (1) consider the scope of the 

Trust submissions but also take care, wouldn’t you agree, that the likes 

of a simple playing field in that zone would not become restricted 

discretionary? 5 

 

MS SEATON:   Agree, yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And so overall I think as well as a need of some surgery to the 

definitions, the solutions to address the Trust’s concerns can be found 10 

in some refinement of the rules, you would agree with that? 

 

  [12.20 pm] 

 

MS SEATON:   Yes, I agree with that.  The only outstanding area we would 15 

seem to be making little progress in the way of agreement, is around 

how to deal with the shooting range issue in that, as Ms Limmer 

referred to, in terms of scope. 

 

 That is the problem child at the moment but otherwise, yes, I agree, the 20 

Trust’s issues with those definitions can be addressed through 

amendments to the rules. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, Ms Seaton.  Thank you, sir. 

 25 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Neill? 

 

MR NEILL:  I have no questions.   

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 30 

 

MS DAWSON:   I just want to say thank you for your evidence highlighting 

the confusion.  I mean it was helpful to us because as you said, the full 

extent of any difficulties with these definitions has not come to light till 

now and particularly with different chapters being considered one after 35 

the other so it is good to have it come to light now, thank you. 

 

 Have you, by any chance, looked at any of the Stage 1 proposals that 

have been decided where Recreation Activity might be references the 

activity in those, given that I note that the definition itself was part of 40 

the Stage 1 definitions. 

 

MS SEATON:    Yes, not specifically.  I looked more generally, did see where 

recreation activities, for example, were a permitted activity so I did not 

look specifically at Stage 1, just generally. 45 
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MS DAWSON:   Residential and Commercial/Industrial zones. 

 

MS SEATON:   Yes, I am trying to recall, sorry.  I did have a quick look and I 

cannot quite recall with any detail as to whether they were permitted in 

those zones or not, sorry. 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   But in terms of the Rural zones, they are permitted.  

Recreational activities as a whole – whatever that might be – are 

permitted in all the Rural zones, not just the Rural Waimakariri. 

 10 

MS SEATON:   No, yes, my understanding is, for example, I looked this 

morning at Urban Fringe, Rural Urban Fringe is it is permitted but 

varying degrees of control around the extended built development 

associated with them but yes, they are permitted activities. 

 15 

MS DAWSON:   And the main control is on the size of buildings and 

impervious services. 

 

MS SEATON:   Yes, mainly around the scale.   

 20 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, but then you identified, I think, in your evidence that 

quite substantial recreational activities that may have wider effects may 

not need buildings? 

 

MS SEATON:   No, indeed and some of the examples that came to mind were, 25 

for example, the likes of kart clubs and motorbike clubs and that sort of 

thing that may need nothing more than a small clubroom and off they 

go. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But may or may not need impervious services. 30 

 

MS SEATON:   Indeed, yes.  They could probably trigger, for example, if they 

did not have impervious services they may trigger resource consent 

requirements under the Traffic Chapter because their parking would not 

be sealed but the consenting considerations would be very restricted.   35 

 

MS DAWSON:    Yes, so there might be other standards that might come into 

play that could trigger consents one way or another but it is not clear 

without some examination, it would not be clear how the broad suite of 

recreational activities would be or what consent activity status might 40 

apply where it is initially listed as a permitted activity. 

 

MS SEATON:    No, indeed, and there is probably some perverse outcomes 

potentially coming through as well and the shooting range is a classic.  

In discussions with Dr Trevathan because in Chapter 6, for example, if 45 

you bear with me for a moment, Chapter 6 they are looking at 
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removing all the Lmax.  It has got the experts opposing.  According to 

discussions with Dr Trevathan, he has indicated that the shooting range 

would, in all likelihood, be able to comply with the noise standards of 

the Plan if there was no Lmax in which case you are left with a situation 

where anywhere that recreational activities are permitted you 5 

potentially have a fully permitted shooting range. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Because they might not need a very big building or an 

impervious surface? 

 10 

MS SEATON:   No, indeed and for those reasons, yes, it is a bit - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   And if they did trigger a traffic consent it would only be more 

than likely a restricted discretionary around that issue rather than - - - 

 15 

MS SEATON:   Yes, it would be. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - effect on neighbours, for example? 

 

MS SEATON:    Yes. 20 

 

MS DAWSON:    All right, well, thank you very much. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Judge? 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:    Ms Seaton, my questions are of a preliminary nature 

bearing in mind there is a significant amount of work needing to be 

done.  The parties have acknowledged.   

 

 But I want to just take you through some questions around motorised 30 

sports facility just to test your view on some things that I also tested 

with the Council planner. 

 

  [12.25 pm] 

 35 

 So, firstly a question are a motorised craft a type of thing you think 

would be intended to be addressed through a motorised sports facility, 

for instance, if we look at jet boat racing around a circuit which is dug 

into gravel. 

 40 

MS SEATON:   I would expect that it should be, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just another couple of things.  If we go now to Motorised 

Sports Facility; I read A through G to effectively be subsets of the first 

phrase in that definition.  Would you read it that way? 45 
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MS SEATON:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:    And so, therefore, when one comes to tidy up A, bearing 

in mind what we discussed around motorised craft that that could be 

tidied up relatively easily there in terms of covering truck racing as 5 

well, do you agree with that? 

 

MS SEATON:    Yes I would.  Although the only thing in relation to motorised 

craft I have just noticed is that definition says “means the use of the 

land, buildings or structures” and the motorised craft are not going to 10 

be in land or buildings or structures. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:    Yes, thank you for putting that because I was going to 

ask you that so, therefore, it should say “on surface water as well” or 

something to that effect. 15 

 

MS SEATON:   Yes, I would have thought so, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:    And look, I do not know whether or not a car, a 

motorbike and a racing truck, if they are racing vehicles and motor 20 

vehicles but I wonder if they are and if they are could just simply be 

“motorised craft and motor vehicles’ racing tracks” or something to 

that effect. 

 

MS SEATON:   Possibly. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Possibly yes, and that is fine for this purpose and likewise, 

B could sensibly be brought together with A, couldn't it, if it is a form 

of racing track? 

 30 

MS SEATON:   Yes, it could be.  You just have to be sure the start of A was 

sufficiently inclusive that you were not leaving out anything like that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And do you see any actual meaningful difference between 

the word “accessory” and the word “ancillary”, for the purpose of this 35 

definition? 

 

MS SEATON:    Yes, I listened to that discussion with interest yesterday.  No. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Bearing in mind that where the word “accessory” is used 40 

in the Plan it tends to use it in the form of “incidental to the principal”. 

 

MS SEATON:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, well, that is helpful to know and in which case, 45 

“ancillary buildings” is that something that should be more broadly 
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brought in to other subcategories on the A to G list, rather than just be 

confined to A, or confined to, I think, one other example I saw? 

 

MS SEATON:   B as well. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, possibly. 

 

MS SEATON:   Yes, I think possibly yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That is fine for now, thank you. 10 

 

SJH:    Ms Seaton, were you here yesterday when Ms Dawson and myself had 

the discussion with Ms Carter about major recreation activity and major 

recreation facility and the cross-referencing between the two? 

 15 

MS SEATON:   Yes, it is circular, lack of definition. 

 

SJH:   And you accept the concession that, in fact, it is not a definition at all? 

 

MS SEATON:   Yes, I accept that. 20 

 

SJH:   Does the Plan need one? 

 

MS SEATON:   Yes, I think it does. 

 25 

SJH:    Right.  Anything arising, Ms Scott? 

 

MS SCOTT:   No, sir, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Ms Limmer, anything arising or re-examination? 30 

 

MS LIMMER:   No thank you. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.28 pm] 

 35 

SJH:   Well, before we adjourn, as I said at the beginning, we will adjourn this 

Hearing generally but noting that there are areas where a considerable 

amount of work, particularly in this recreational area, is still required.  

 

 It falls into two categories, I noted at the start.  Those definitions that 40 

need some work and those definitions that are dependent upon 

decisions in other chapters, such as the Federated Farmers ones, 

because those decisions are likely to resolve a number of those.  So we 

will issue a minute in due course.   

 45 
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 Whether we then, after that additional work, I guess the question I 

should ask around this Recreation one is whether you require facilitated 

conferencing or rather, mediation, because forget about scope, the 

gun clubs need to be involved because they predate the activities. 

 5 

MS SCOTT:   Sir, a meeting is organised for Monday with the gun club.  

Perhaps after that meeting I could come back to the secretariat as to 

whether facilitated mediation would assist. 

 

SJH:    All right, well, if you could file a memorandum by say, close of 10 

business Tuesday on that, Ms Scott. 

 

 There is then, of course, the much wider issue that Ms Limmer has 

identified and Ms Dawson alluded to in her questions that these 

recreational definitions have wide impact across the entire Plan and as 15 

they stand at the moment, I do not want to be too pejorative but it is 

hard to describe that it is anything other than a disaster zone that needs 

to be tidied up. 

 

 So that may be an area where facilitation is needed, just a note that 20 

there is a clear rule of “statutory interpretation” that if you wish to 

exclude something from a definition such as “recreational” you need to 

do so quite specifically, I mean it is not just enough to say “they 

referred a motorise later, it is separate”. 

 25 

  [12.30 pm] 

 

 I do not think – that would struggle to stand up and they all need to 

hang together, and I think the other points that have been made that 

some of these exclusion probably belong in rules rather than in 30 

definitions and the definitions have been used to try and patch up rules 

or to cover rules, so I think there are quite a lot of work. 

 

 So perhaps that memorandum when you file it, Ms Scott, can also deal 

with that “wider” issue, whether it needs to be facilitated and whether 35 

or not you think we will need an additional hearing and additional 

evidence because some of these areas that may be required will be 

relatively brief, but if an agreement is reached the planners need to 

understand that we have a wider concern than just their trade-offs to get 

what their client wants, it is a much bigger picture than that which is 40 

one of the issues we have had with definitions where agreements been 

reached but we still do not feel they reached a standard required. 

 

 So we will adjourn on that basis generally and once that is filed we will 

make a timetable for closings and such like, Ms Scott. 45 
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MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir, I just have two minor matters I can update you 

on.  

 

SJH:   Yes? 

 5 

MS SCOTT:   The first is the definitions that relate to water and energy 

efficiency, a question was asked of Ms Sowerby and Mr Blair 

yesterday; I can advise why they are still in the revised proposal, that is 

because through Stage 2 Commercial, I think Industrial as well and 

Residential, there is a differing position between the Council and what 10 

Council witnesses have recommended. 

 

SJH:   It has been dealt with in Stage 2, Residential? 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, they are still there because Commercial is, the same issue 15 

exists in Commercial, so subsequent to that decision - - -  

 

SJH:   Well I would like to - - -  

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, so will be - - -  20 

 

SJH:   - - - I would like to think that different Panels might be aligned, but you 

never know. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You want a preliminary review, Ms Scott? 25 

 

MS SCOTT:   I do not need one, sir. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Okay. 

 30 

MS SCOTT:   So that is why they are still in the revised proposal. 

 

SJH:   Right, okay, understood. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, second matter, you asked about the 11 March version of, 35 

one of the Natural and Cultural Heritage proposals, I have got some 

feedback from my colleagues that I can pass onto you now if that 

would assist? 

 

SJH:   Yes, by all means. 40 

 

MS SCOTT:   So the 11 March version of the revised proposal was distributed 

only to mediation participants to provide feedback following the 

mediation, for that feedback to be incorporated into the revised 

proposal that was filed on 24 March – that 24 March version may be 45 

what is in front of you now. 



 Page 173 

  

Ch2: Definitions (Part) Commenced 31.03.16 

 

 In terms of the mediation report relating to this version that was 

uploaded onto the Panel’s website on 17 March, and then on 24 March 

the Council filed and circulated a clean copy and marked up – sorry, I 

have got this a little bit wrong – in terms of 11 March version that was 5 

only circulated to the mediation participants to be incorporated into the 

24 March version, that version may have made its way to the Panel – I 

do not know about that - - -  

 

SJH:   I think it is 24 March one is the one we have got, but with nothing 10 

covering, it is just simply a tract version and a clean version. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Right. 

 

SJH:   And one would normally expect it to come with a mediation report, but 15 

may be that is in the process because I know the mediator has been 

extremely busy. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, so the mediation report was 17th of March. 

 20 

 On 24 March Council filed and circulated a clean copy and marked up 

version which I understand you now have. 

 

SJH:   So we should read the mediation report of 17 March and the 24 March 

documents together? 25 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, the 24 March version reflects changes from mediation and 

it assists with submitter closings. 

 

SJH:   But it seems to include that one of “grazing” going in without noting 30 

that it – from what we are hearing, and I have not got the mediation 

report in front of me – matters that were not agree. 

 

MS SCOTT:   No, no, and I did look back at - - -  

 35 

SJH:   And it did not do that in the tract version. 

 

MS SCOTT:   No, the revised proposal does say “it is not agreed”, so there is 

certainly no agreement on that matter. 

 40 

SJH:   All right, that is fine. 

 

SJH:   Well that will (INDISTINCT 4.45), yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Sorry for that confusion. 45 

 



 Page 174 

  

Ch2: Definitions (Part) Commenced 31.03.16 

SJH:   No, no, that is all right. It has been an ongoing process and a difficult 

one, and as I say, there is still work to do, but we will now generally 

adjourn until our next Hearing which may be this one or it may be the 

completion of Natural and Cultural Heritage matters. 

 5 

 Thank you. 

 

MS SCOTT:   As your honour pleases. 

 

MATTER ADJOURNED AT 12.35 PM ACCORDINGLY 10 


